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Statement of Compliance 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
Hon John Day MLA 
Minister for Culture and the Arts 
 

Dear Minister 
 
In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and presentation to 
Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.  The annual 
report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and other legislation including: 
 
• Disability Services Act 1993 
• Electoral Act 1907 
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984 
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
• Public Sector Management Act 1994 
• State Records Act 2000. 

 
Allanah Lucas 
Director General 
9 September 2010 



 
 

Overview of the Agency 
Profile of the Department 

Who we are and what we do 

The Department of Culture and the Arts (known previously as 
the Department of the Arts and the Ministry for Culture and 
the Arts) has been operating under its current description and 
role since 2001.  
 
The State Government established the Department to: 

• guide and implement Government policy 
• provide support and resources for the development and 

delivery of culture and the arts 
• align the services delivered by the culture and arts 

portfolio with Government policy objectives. 
 
The Department includes the operations of the State Records 
Office (SRO), which is responsible for managing the State’s 
archives. 
 

Our portfolio agreed outcomes 

The outcomes that we have agreed to deliver for the State 
Government are:  

• a creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts 
sector 

• Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are managed, conserved and accessible.  

 

Our vision 

The Western Australian community is enriched by unique and 
transforming culture and arts experiences. 
 

Our values 

• Imagination: valuing the creative application of 
knowledge and the courage inherent in seeking 
innovative solutions. 

• Respect: valuing and acknowledging the diversity and 
complexities of the communities we serve. 

• Professionalism: taking a skilled, collaborative and 
knowledge-based approach to all our work. 

• Integrity: acting ethically and responsibly in all our 
dealings and taking responsibility for our own behaviour. 

 

Our strategy 

Halfway through the reporting year, the Department released 
a five-year strategic plan (2010-2014) that emphasises ‘public 
value’ for the arts and culture sector. The report on our 
agency’s performance (pages 12-32) reflects this new 
strategic focus. 
 
As the State Records Office has a whole-of-government role, 
it has its own strategic plan. A report on the SRO’s activities 
for the year, aligned to these separate strategic objectives, is 
included on pages 33-37 of this report.  
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The Culture and Arts Portfolio 

The Culture and Arts Portfolio (the portfolio) is formed by the 
Department of Culture and the Arts (which includes the State 
Records Office) and the following agencies: 
 
• Art Gallery of Western Australia (a statutory authority)  
• Perth Theatre Trust (a statutory authority)  
• ScreenWest (an incorporated association)  
• State Library of Western Australia (a statutory authority)  
• Western Australian Museum (a statutory authority). 
 
The Department takes the lead in linking the portfolio to the 
Government’s framework as well as being the main contact 
point for the Minister for Culture and the Arts and central 
Government agencies. The Department is headed by the 
Director General who employs all portfolio staff with the 
exception of the Chief Executive Officers of the statutory 
authorities.  
 
The portfolio agencies work to the boards and report through 
the Director General to the Minister for Culture and Arts and, 
ultimately, Parliament. While they each have a strategic plan 
to conduct their specialised business and produce annual 
reports, the Department measures performance at the whole-
of-portfolio level. This is reflected in the Key Performance 
Indicators section of this report.  
 

Portfolio demographics 

The following tables summarise the portfolio’s employee 
demographics: 
 
Culture and Arts portfolio demographics at 30 June 2010 
Employment Type Women Men 
Permanent Full-time 253 166 
Permanent Part-time 144 38 
Fixed Term Full-time 41 39 
Fixed Term Part-time 45 10 
Casual paid in previous 12 months 47 18 
Other paid in previous 12 months 9 9 
Total 539 280 

 
Demographics by organisation  
Department/portfolio organisation Women Men 
Department of Culture and the Arts 97 48 
Art Gallery of Western Australia 54 25 
Perth Theatre Trust 38 19 
ScreenWest 13 4 
State Library of Western Australia 155 69 
Western Australian Museum 182 115 
Total 539 280 
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Director General’s Foreword 

As I read through the Department of Culture and the Arts’ 
2009-2010 Annual Report, I am proud of our achievements in 
the past year.  This has been a challenging year for 
Government, the arts sector and the community given the 
global financial crisis. 
 
As I reflect on our work during 2009-2010, I would like to 
thank my staff for all their very hard work: the Portfolio CEOs 
and their teams for their collegiality and the Minister for 
Culture and the Arts, the Honourable John Day and his staff 
for their coherent support.   
 
I am particularly pleased that I released our Strategic Plan 
2010-2014 in February 2010.  This document presents our 
vision for the next five years and will guide and inform the 
work we do. Our renewed strategic direction is focussed on 
public value – the way the community supports, participates in 
and relates to arts and culture.    
 
Supporting the delivery of our strategic plan is Creating Value, 
which provides a framework for arts and cultural policy.  
Released in March 2010, Creating Value evolved from 
detailed research and consultation with the arts and cultural 
sectors as well as the community, providing a better 
understanding between those who create work and those who 
engage or experience that work. 
 

One of the challenges for the Department in the past has 
been articulating our role beyond that of simply a funding 
body, to being a policy leader in arts and cultural policy, on 
behalf of the WA Government. 
 
With these two plans driving our business, we are aligning our 
resources initiatives, partnerships and alliances that will 
provide the most value to the sector and West Australian 
community. Many alliances have already brought the 
Department closer to members of the corporate sector, as 
well as other diverse Government Departments and 
organisations in the State and nation. Throughout this annual 
report, you’ll find examples of how we are doing this. 
 
For our new plan to be successful, it has been important to 
consolidate our business to ensure that we have sound 
knowledge management and related procedures in place.   
The development of the new project management framework 
will support our staff, while our mapping of cultural 
infrastructure will allow us and stakeholders to consider the 
comprehensive and complex systems across the State. 
 
The State Records Office, which is part of the Department, 
has been working at addressing how new technology can be 
used in the collection, retention and presentation of archives.  
As the way in which the community engages with culture and 
arts is rapidly changing, it is important that we look to 
technology and digitisation to develop new ways of 
undertaking our business.  
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For the coming financial year, the Department will look at 
building on the foundations we have established during 2009-
10.  With our direction clearly defined and the ongoing 
commitment of our skilled and dedicated staff, I am confident 
that the coming year will deliver significant benefits for arts 
and culture and the West Australian community. 

 
Allanah Lucas 
Director General  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Profile of the Director General 

Allanah Lucas has worked in the Australian and United 
Kingdom arts sectors for more than 25 years as a professional 
CEO and arts administrator, performing arts producer, 
presenter and practitioner, researcher, consultant and tutor, 
bringing a diversity and depth of experience to her role as 
Director General.   
 
Since joining the Culture and Arts Portfolio in 2000 as Director 
of ArtsWA, she has been the Acting Chief Executive Officer of 
the WA Museum (2004) and Executive Director of the Culture 
and Arts Development directorate (2005). She was appointed 
Director General in 2008.    
 
As Director General, Allanah is an ex-officio member of the 
five boards in the Culture and Arts Portfolio.  She is also on 
the Advisory Board of The University of Western Australia’s 
Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences Faculty. Allanah is an 
Executive Fellow of the Australian and New Zealand School of 
Government. 
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Highlights of the year 

• Launch of the Department’s five-year strategic plan which 
positions the Department to respond more effectively to an 
arts and culture environment characterised by constrained 
resources, rapidly evolving technologies and shifting 
community expectations. 

• Launch of a policy framework, Creating Value, to guide the 
Department’s investment in culture and arts over the next 
five years. The framework, which directly supports the 
strategic plan, is the result of two years of extensive 
consultation with the arts and culture sector.  

• Near-completion of the State Theatre Centre of Western 
Australia in Northbridge, incorporating the 575-seat Heath 
Ledger Theatre and the Studio Underground, as well as 
other flexible-use spaces that will accommodate a wide 
range of performance activities. 

• Provision of more than $22million in funding to support the 
delivery of both traditional and emerging art forms across 
the State, including: $16,720,592 core recurrent funding 
granted by the Department to 49 organisations whose level 
of service is critical to the development of the sector; and 
$5,588,824 granted by peer and expert panels to 216 
organisations, individuals and projects across a wide range 
of artforms.  

• Strengthening of the Department’s relationships with State 
and Federal Government agencies to more effectively 
coordinate government resources.  In addition to the 

Department’s work with each State and jurisdiction in 
Australia through the Cultural Ministers Council, it worked 
with 24 other State and Federal agencies on a range of 
projects and policy issues.  

• Initiation of a $1million international sculpture competition, 
‘situate’, which has provided a new model for inter-
government commissioning for public art – and will produce 
a playful, tactile and eye-catching landmark for the Forrest 
Place pedestrian square in the Perth CBD. 

• A comprehensive revision of the disposal authority for local 
government records that will greatly improve recordkeeping 
in the local government sector in WA.   

• The online provision to the public of more than 6,000 
images of the State’s early exploration, survey and 
cadastral maps and plans through the State Record 
Office’s online catalogue AEON.  

• Improved mechanisms for determining the needs of the 
State’s collections sector (museums, libraries, galleries, 
archivists, historical societies and other collecting 
institutions) and support for a sector-wide training needs 
analysis. 
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Valuing Arts and Culture 

The following information, profiling how West Australians 
relate to the culture and arts sector, was obtained from the 
Department’s annual Arts Monitor Survey, conducted in March 
2010. A total of 404 individuals were interviewed by 
independent research company Patterson Market Research – 
302 from the metropolitan area and 102 from regional WA. 
People aged 16 years and over were randomly selected within 
each household.  
Public attitudes to culture and the arts 

The survey results clearly indicate that West Australians 
appreciate the significant contribution that arts and culture 
makes to a wide range of public value areas including 
community wellbeing, cultural identity and education: 
• 96 per cent think it is important for school children to have 

access to learning such as music, painting, writing and 
drama as part of their education. 

• 88 per cent feel that the arts have an important role in 
helping us understand our own culture and way of life and 
those of others. 

• 87 per cent believe the WA Government should invest in 
arts and cultural activities to ensure they are available to the 
public. 

• 76 per cent consider that all theatre, opera and ballet 
companies and public art galleries should not be made to 
survive on their ticket sales alone. 

• 73 per cent believe that the arts makes them feel good. 

• 69 per cent feel the arts helps those who participate as well 
as the broader community. 

• 58 per cent feel the arts helps them connect with and feel 
part of the community. 

Engagement with arts and culture activities 

With regard to actual engagement with the arts and culture 
sector, the survey showed:  
• 92 per cent of respondents had attended at least one arts or 

cultural performance in the past 12-month period. 
• Singles and couples were more likely to have participated in 

a variety of arts and cultural activities than young families or 
retirees. 

• Visiting a public library continued to be the most common 
cultural activity, with the State Library of WA still the most 
regularly visited of the State’s cultural venues. 

• On average, the respondents spent $60.20 per month on 
arts and cultural activities. 

• The internet now equals print advertising as the primary 
source of information about arts and cultural events and 
internet booking is the most popular form of booking. 

• The chance to see major international exhibitions and price 
discounting were major motivators for people attending arts 
and cultural events. 

• Event costs, competing interests and lack of interest 
continued to be the greatest barriers to people engaging 
with arts and cultural events.



 
 
Operational Structure 

The Department of the Arts was established under the Public 
Service Act 1978 on July 1, 1986 subsequent to the repeal of 
the Western Australian Arts Council Act 1973. On May 20, 
1997 the name was changed to the Ministry of Culture and the 
Arts under the Public Sector Management Act 1994. On July 
1, 2001 the name was re-designated to Department of Culture 
and the Arts under Section 35 of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994 as a result of the Machinery of 
Government Review. 
 
The Department operates under the provisions of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994. In the performance of its 
functions, the Department complies with all relevant written 
laws. 
 
The Department leads in linking the Culture and Arts Portfolio 
to the Government’s framework and also provides subsidy to 
The Bell Tower, which is managed by the Swan Bells 
Foundation Inc. The portfolio organisations and The Bell 
Tower have a statutory requirement to produce separate 
annual reports.  
 
The Minister for Culture and the Arts administers the following 
Acts relating to the statutory authorities within the portfolio: Art 
Gallery Act 1959; Library Board of Western Australia Act 
1951; Museum Act 1969; and Perth Theatre Trust Act 1979. 

The Department is lead by the Director General and 
supported by the functions of the following areas: 
 
• Development and Strategy Directorate 

• General Operations Directorate 

• State Records Office.  
 
A profile of the functions of these areas, and the staff who 
lead them, follows.  
 
The Office of the Director General – comprising Corporate 
Affairs, Audit and Review, Ministerial Liaison and Government 
Relations areas – also provides support to the Director 
General and takes primary responsibility for liaison with the 
Minister for Culture and the Arts. This section is lead by the 
Director General, Allanah Lucas. 
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Key Staff 

Allanah Lucas 
Director General 
Refer profile page 5. 
 
Jacqui Allen 
Deputy Director General, Development and Strategy 
Directorate 
Jacqui Allen was appointed to the role of Deputy Director 
General in April 2009. Prior to joining the Department in 1998, 
Jacqui worked in performing arts presentation. At the 
Department she has undertaken roles in funding, policy 
development, corporate affairs and capital works. In addition, 
she has worked as a Policy Adviser to Arts Ministers in both 
the Court and Gallop governments. 
 
Eric Isailovic 
Executive Director, General Operations 
The General Operations Directorate provides general 
corporate services for the Department and alignment with 
Government systems for portfolio organisations. This includes 
organisational performance, finance, human resources, 
information services and property development and 
management services.  
 

Eric Isailovic was appointed Executive Director in April 2008, 
having worked for more than 25 years in senior corporate and 
operational management roles in government at both State 
and Federal levels.  His sector experience includes the public 
transport and law enforcement domains as well as culture and 
the arts. He also worked for five years as a successful small 
business operator in the food manufacture and retail sector. 
 

Cathrin Cassarchis 
Director, State Records Office 
The State Records Office is responsible for the administration 
of the State Records Act 2000 which regulates whole-of-
government recordkeeping and the management of the State 
archives collection. It supports the State Records Commission 
in the development of a regulatory framework for 
implementation of this Act, as well as providing consultancy, 
advice and training to State and local government 
organisations on compliance. It also provides public access to 
unrestricted archives in the State archives collection. 
 
Cathrin Cassarchis was appointed to the position of Director 
in March 2008. Her background in the archive sector includes 
her role as Head of Public Affairs for The National Archives in 
the United Kingdom and, prior to that, as funding consultant to 
the National Council on Archives’ (UK). Most recently Cathrin 
held the position of Director of the WA Museum Foundation, 
where she was responsible for fundraising, strategy and policy 
development, negotiation and facilitation and the achievement 
of corporate targets and objectives.  



 
 
Organisational Chart 
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Performance Management Framework 

The portfolio achieves its Government Desired Outcomes through 
the delivery of seven key services. While the portfolio contributes to 
all of the Government’s Outcomes Based Service Delivery goals, its 
primary contribution is to the Government goal: “Greater focus on 
achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians”. The figure below illustrates the relationship 
between the portfolio’s Desired Outcomes and the most relevant 
Government goal. 
 
Culture and the Arts Portfolio Outcome Structure 

Government Goal Desired 
Outcomes 

Services 

Outcome 1: 
A creative, sustainable 
and accessible culture 
and arts sector 

• Arts Industry 
Support 

• Screen Production 
Industry Support 

• Venue Management 
Services 

 
 
 
 
Greater focus on 
achieving results in 
key service areas for 
the benefit of all 
Western Australians 
 

Outcome 2:  
Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary 
collections are 
preserved, accessible 
and sustainable 

• Art Gallery Services 
• Library and 

Information Services 
• Museum Services 
• Government 

Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

 
Note: Services contributing to Outcome 2 also contribute to Outcome 1. 

Responsibilities of portfolio organisations 

The portfolio’s services are delivered by the Department (including 
the State Records Office) and the five portfolio organisations. 
Responsibilities for the provision of services are as follows. 
 
Portfolio Service Providers 

Portfolio Service Service Provider 

Arts Industry Support Department of Culture and the 
Arts 

Screen Production Industry 
Support 

ScreenWest 

Venue Management Services Perth Theatre Trust 

Art Gallery Services Art Gallery of Western Australia 

Library and Information Services State Library of Western Australia 

Museum Services Western Australian Museum 

Government Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

State Records Office 
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Agency Performance: Department of Culture 
and the Arts 

 
The Department of Culture and the Arts operates in a rapidly 
shifting environment and is sensitive to the needs of the global 
economy and evolving technologies as well as the community’s 
changing expectations and engagement with the culture and arts 
sector.  
 
The Department has recently refreshed its vision and strategic 
directions to reflect these new opportunities and challenges. The 
vision is to enrich the lives of all West Australians by providing them 
with unique and transforming culture and arts experiences, in order 
for them to be connected to their history and their culture and able 
to share their experiences and stories. 
 
The strategic plan for 2010-2014 ‘Creating and Delivering 
Government Policy for Culture and the Arts’ identifies the key 
drivers of the Department’s success in this regard, namely: 
 
• the effective management of  knowledge systems 
• the delivery of public value for arts and culture investments 
• a clearer articulation of the way the Department engages with a 

wide range of stakeholders to achieve its goals 
• the need to broaden the approach to the provision of 

infrastructure and take advantage of the opportunities for 
increased public access offered by new technologies.  

 

 
While providing a strengthened focus for the Department’s 
activities, the strategic plan (implemented halfway through the year) 
continues to support the outcomes that the Department had 
previously agreed to deliver for the State Government, namely: 
 
• a creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector 
• Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary collections 

are managed, conserved and accessible.  
 
There have consequently been no changes to the Key Performance 
Indicators.  
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Strategic Objective 1: The Department is an 
organisation where the effective management of 
knowledge is essential to our business 

The Department relies on a large number of knowledge assets that 
are essential to the delivery of services. Processes, systems and 
behaviours for more effectively retaining and sharing these vital 
knowledge assets will be essential to the Department achieving its 
vision.  
 
Improving information exchange and accountability 
Project management framework 
The Department’s project management framework - one of the key 
recommendations of an internal efficiency review conducted in 
2009 - was implemented in April 2010. The purpose of the project 
management framework is to ensure that new services and 
products are planned and monitored in a consistent and effective 
manner, and approved according to strategic objectives and 
priorities.  
 
A project management intranet site provides access for 
Departmental staff to the necessary tools and resources to manage 
projects and training has been provided to staff across the agency. 
A project register has been developed to record and monitor 
existing projects and is updated monthly. The Department had 58 
main projects underway at the end of the reporting year.  
 
 

Acquittal data review  
Individuals and groups who receive grants from the Department are 
required to provide a written account of how the funds have been 
spent and what artistic outcomes their funded project has achieved. 
These funding acquittal reports include information on income and 
expenditure, the number of staff employed by the project, the public 
response to the project and lessons learnt by grant recipients. This 
year, the Department instigated an acquittal data review to 
determine what changes need to be made in order to more 
effectively retain and share this important knowledge asset.  The 
review will allow the Department to ensure that future acquittal data 
can be readily accessed and reliably used to report on public value 
outcomes. 
 
Website management 
During the reporting year, the Department’s homepage was 
redesigned for visitors to more quickly and easily find information, 
particularly about grants and programs. At the same time, the 
content management system was upgraded to offer additional 
functionality to people inputting information to the website, enabling 
external arts and cultural organisations to access the site to upload 
their own information more effectively.  The Department has seen a 
steady growth in users registering to its site and submitting events – 
600 subscribers to the Weekly What’s On and 550 users submitting 
events, up from the equivalent June 2009 figures of 245 and 225. 
The site’s server is now also hosted internally to save on hosting 
fees and to increase functionality.  
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Funding process review 
The first phase of a funding process review was begun during the 
year to assess how the Department can improve the cost-efficiency 
and effectiveness of its funding program processes to further 
maximise the public value of its funding activities. This first phase 
will include examination of how a peer-based arts assessment 
system – using artistic peers to help inform government decisions 
about many of its grants programs – can best be administered.  
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Strategic Objective 2: Department activities are 
aligned within a public value framework 
 
At the heart of the Department’s vision is the goal of enriching the 
arts and cultural experiences of the WA community. Value is gained 
through the unique and transforming qualities of these experiences, 
leading to engaged citizens and the delivery of both economic and 
social benefits to the State.  
 
What is public value? The development of a new 
operational framework  
Research consistently tells us that the public values its cultural 
institutions, organisations and artists and wants Government to 
contribute to their support. The public also recognises the personal 
benefits gained from an interaction with the arts, and values the 
contribution that the arts makes to other aspects of their lives, from 
the economy through to social cohesion.  
 
A recent snapshot of community attitudes to culture and the arts 
confirms this view. The March 2010 Arts Monitor Survey (conducted 
by an independent research company on behalf of the Department) 
found that West Australians regard arts and culture to be an integral 
and valued part of life (see page 7). 
 
The development of a new plan to guide the Department’s 
investment in culture and the arts over the next five years marks an 
important milestone in the organisation’s efforts to align its activities 
within a public value framework. Launched in March 2010, Creating 
Value: An Arts and Culture Sector Policy Framework 2010-2104 

describes the overall principles, outcome areas and strategies that 
will help the Department achieve this value for its programs.  
 
Public value is regarded, in this context, as the social and economic 
benefits created by arts and culture for the WA community. This 
public value operates at many levels:  individuals gain value from 
culture and the arts through enrichment from transformative arts 
experiences (whether as a participant, spectator or creator); the 
community gains value from access to more citizens with increased 
creativity, imagination, skills and knowledge; and the State gains 
value from the creation of an environment in which people 
increasingly want to live, work and visit, and which also delivers 
economic and social outcomes.   
 
The policy framework Creating Value is effectively the roadmap that 
will steer the Department towards its strategic goals, as outlined in 
the strategic plan. Creating Value will be delivered through the 
Development and Strategy Directorate of the Department which 
each year will identify the Department’s priority projects. Progress 
will be measured against criteria set out in the framework. 
 



 
 
Funding principles and processes  

Promoting creativity and engagement 
Programs supported by the Department will increasingly reflect the 
priority public value principles that underpin the new Creating Value 
framework. These principles embrace a range of existing and 
emerging needs identified during the course of the plan’s extensive 
preliminary research and are summarised within the document 
under the broad headings of ‘creativity’ and ‘engagement’. 
Peer assessment 
The peer assessment process, which has been used to assess 
funding applications since the formation of the Department in 1986, 
is guided by the ‘arm’s length’ principle which ensures that funding 
recommendations are made without government or political 
interference. The panels consist of practising artists, arts workers, 
arts managers or individuals with relevant knowledge and 
experience whose membership of the panel pool is approved by the 
Minister for Culture and the Arts and endorsed by Cabinet.  
 
Every three years the Department invites arts sector practitioners in 
WA to nominate for a role as a peer assessor. Panellists are 
selected for each assessment round on the basis that they have the 
relevant expertise to thoroughly assess the applications, which are 
judged on the basis of artistic merit, good planning and financial 
responsibility to deliver the best value to the public.  
 
The peer assessment process applies to the: 
• Arts Development Panel 
• Indigenous Arts Panel (composed entirely of Indigenous people) 

• Young People and the Arts Panel (composed of people aged 26 
and under) 

• Contemporary Music Panel 
• Designer Fashion Panel. 
 
In addition, the Department seeks advice from external experts on a 
range of other funding programs such as the Looking Forward 
Fund, Major Production Fund and major arts competitions such as 
the ‘situate’ sculpture competition held this year (see page 29). 
 
Sector funding and support 2009-2010 
The Department provided funding and support to a range of 
organisations and individuals throughout the year, as summarised 
below. 
Peer and expert panel assessment 
During 2009-2010, funding for projects assessed through a 
peer/expert process totalled $5,588,824 with 216 organisations, 
individuals and projects supported. Distribution was as follows: 
• Creative Development Fellowships - $120,000 across two 

recipients 
• Dance - $125,068 across six recipients 
• Multi-arts - $164,842 across six recipients 
• Music - $165,030 across nine recipients 
• Theatre - $244,655 across nine recipients 
• Visual Arts and Crafts Mid-Career Fellowships - $100,000 across 

four recipients 
• Visual Arts and Craft - $453,910 across 22 recipients 
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 Writing - $164,885 across 10 recipients 
• Young People and the Arts - $232,003 to 22 projects 
• Young People and the Arts Fellowships and International 

Scholarship - $74,202 across four recipients 
• Young People and the Arts Quick Response Program - $39,621 

across 11 applicants 
• Indigenous Arts Panel - $232,098 across 16 projects 
• Major Production Fund - $1,400,000 across four projects 
• Contemporary Music - $365,105 across 45 individuals and 

organisations 
• Designer Fashion - $250,000 across 38 projects  
• ‘situate’ sculpture competition - $1,000,000 to one artistic team  
• Looking Forward Fund - $457,435 across seven projects. 

Recurrent funded organisations and activities 
During the year, $16,720,592 was provided as core recurrent 
funding to 49 organisations for the operational and artistic costs of 
delivering an agreed level of service. (This figure includes 
indexation of 3.625 per cent to recurrent funding across the 
financial year.)  Of this funding, $6,515,704 was provided to the 
West Australian Ballet, the West Australian Opera, the West 
Australian Symphony Orchestra and Black Swan State Theatre 
Company. An additional $585,074 was distributed to these 
organisations to undertake a range of strategic initiatives and 
special projects.   
In 2010 and 2011, the West Australian Ballet will continue to 
receive an additional allocation of $1.2million per annum in special 

project funding (from the arts and culture funding package 
announced in December 2007).  This funding will assist the 
company to increase the number of performance seasons each 
year and to increase the size of its ensemble. A further $2million 
was announced for the relocation of the company from His 
Majesty’s Theatre to Maylands.   

Funding highlights by artform 
Visual arts and craft  
The Department provided core recurrent funding to four visual arts 
organisations to the value of $1,259,347: 
Art On The Move  $    417,983  
Artsource  $    386,706  
FORM  $    263,843  
International Arts Space Kellerberrin (IASKA)  $    190,815  
Total $ 1,259,347 
 
A further 26 organisations and individuals were provided with 
funding for visual arts and craft through the Arts Development 
Program, to a total of $553,910.  Additional funding of $68,989 was 
provided to 24 individuals through the Artflight Panel, which 
assesses requests for financial support to attend interstate or 
international events, and a further $50,000 was provided to assist 
four WA art galleries to participate in the Melbourne Art Fair. The 
Department also provided four grants of $25,000 through the Visual 
Arts Mid Career Fellowship Program.  



 
 
Contemporary interdisciplinary and multi-arts 
In line with the Department’s stated plan to support new forms of 
creative work, a number of interdisciplinary arts programs were 
funded throughout the year. Core recurrent funding was provided 
to:  
Artrage  $    309,774 
Fremantle Arts Centre $    636,091
Perth Institute of Contemporary Arts (PICA) $    636,435
Total $ 1,582,300 
 
Artrage continued work on the redevelopment of its Bakery 
Complex, to be opened in September 2010. The Department is 
providing $385,912 towards this building project.   The Perth 
Institute of Contemporary Arts (PICA) received an additional 
$50,000 towards its contemporary performance program, bringing 
the total three-year commitment to that project to $150,000.  The 
Department provided $305,843 to the capital works and equipment 
purchases associated with PICA’s performance space that was 
completed this financial year.  
 
Other funding highlights included: 
 
• $100,000 towards iArts 2, a continuing partnership with 

ScreenWest and ABC TV to implement a digital arts initiative that 
is forging new ground in cross-platform arts practice.  

• Ongoing support for SymbioticA to become an international 
centre of excellence in the emerging field of bio-arts (which uses 
live tissues, bacteria, living organisms and life processes to 
create works of art that blur the traditional distinctions between 
science and art). The Department, with matching funds from the 
University of Western Australia, has completed the second year 
of a three-year funding commitment totalling $1.2million (a 
commitment of $600,000 each).  

• Ongoing support of $50,000 per annum for Art:City, a visual arts 
program designed to invite people to engage with the built 
environment during the Perth International Arts Festival.  

The Department provided $309,774 to Artrage for its programs and 
provided a further $212,500 in 2009-2010 towards the 
redevelopment of its Bakery Complex to be opened in September 
2010.    
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Performing arts 
Core recurrent funding was provided to 14 performing arts 
organisations to the value of $8,113,247: 
Australian Dance Council WA $    165,418 
Black Swan State Theatre Company $ 1,270,983 
Deckchair Theatre Inc $    293,668 
Performing Arts Centre Society Inc $    224,118 
Perth Theatre Company $    447,386 
West Australian Ballet Company $ 1,532,771 
West Australian Opera Company $ 1,701,445 
West Australian Symphony Orchestra 
(WASO) 

$ 1,896,872 

JazzWA $      59,652 
Perth Jazz Society $      24,090 
Stages (WA Playwrights Consortium) $      73,417 
STRUT Dance $    121,740 
ThinIce Productions Limited $      71,015 
Tura Events Co Ltd $    230,672 
Total  $ 8,113,247
 
Additionally, the Department provided a total of $534,753 funding to 
24 performing arts organisations and individuals through the Arts 
Development Program this year and a further $75,060 to 23 
organisations and individuals through the Artflight travel assistance 
program. 
 

Ausdance WA Inc and STRUT were awarded grants of $300,000 
and $220,000 respectively during the year to deliver on key 
recommendations made in the 2007 Future Moves report. These 
contract arrangements will provide for the development of a 
marketing plan to attract new audiences to contemporary dance, 
targeted support to regionally-based dancers and new partnerships 
to support Aboriginal contemporary dance.  
 
The Department is in the second year of a three-year partnership 
with the Australia Council for the Arts to support Performing Lines 
WA – a dedicated production support company that enables artists 
and companies to focus on the creative aspects of their work – 
through the Managing and Producing Services (MAPS) initiative. 
Performing Lines is currently producing and managing selected WA 
theatre and dance groups, enabling them to create, present and 
tour their work more effectively within the State, Australia and 
internationally.  
 
• Through the Major Production Fund, $390,000 was provided to 

Nova Ensemble for an original, contemporary chamber opera and 
$109,029 to CM films for a collaborative dance film work with 
Australian Dance Theatre. 

Contemporary music 
Core recurrent funding of $317,282 was provided to the WA Music 
Association for peak body services to the sector. The 
Contemporary Music Grants Program assists musicians and music 
businesses to access commercial markets for their products, to 
develop skills and infrastructure, and build new audiences for WA 
music. This year, the program supported 45 individuals and 
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organisations to a total of $365,195. The Department also provided 
$55,000 in funding for the St Jerome’s Laneways Festival, an 
outdoor music festival which featured nine WA bands alongside a 
national and international line-up. The well-attended event brought 
many visitors to the Perth Cultural Centre.  
Writing  
The Department provided core recurrent funding to Fremantle 
Press, WritingWA and the Australian Writers’ Guild (WA) to the 
value of $419,555. Included within this was an amount of $17,000 
to WritingWA for regional literature touring programs. 
Fremantle Press  $    279,616
Australian Writers’ Guild (WA)  $      14,453
WritingWA  $    125,486 
Total $    419,555
 
During the year, the Arts Development Panel provided $164,885 to 
10 organisations and individuals to support their writing 
development while the Artflight program provided an additional 
$10,624 to six individuals to assist with travel costs. Highlights 
included: 
• Jon Doust was supported by the Artflight Panel to undertake a 

promotional tour for his book Boy on a Wire that has gone on to 
make the long list of the Miles Franklin Award. 

• The Department provided $60,000 funding through the Creative 
Development Fellowship Program to writer Ken Spillman to 
develop new work in the area of children’s and young adult fiction 
and to increase his profile in a number of Asian markets.   

• The Publishing Assistance Program and Development categories 
of the Arts Development Panel funded two new volumes of both 
the Westerly and Indigo journals, supported local writer Sarah 
Hay to produce a novel-length work of contemporary WA fiction 
and provided $94,369 funding to Katharine Susannah Prichard 
Foundation’s annual program of activities.  

The Department also provided $30,000 to WritingWA to present a 
WA Writers’ Showcase within the Visiting Industry Program at the 
2010 Perth Writers’ Festival. A review of the State Government 
funded literary award schemes was completed in August 2009.  
Thirty-seven submissions were received from individuals and 
organisations and these comments were used to inform 
recommendations.  A revised Premier’s Book Awards with 
increased funding for prizes, judging and promotion was announced 
in February 2010.  
Designer fashion 
The Department continued to deliver support to the designer 
fashion sector through the Designer Fashion Grants Program, 
distributing $250,000 to 38 projects in 2009-2010. A review of the 
program for the period 2007 to 2009 was also completed in April, 
incorporating analysis of 54 funded project acquittal reports, an 
online survey of applicants and feedback from the program’s peer 
panel.  The findings indicate that the grants program provides 
significant short-term economic benefits to the WA fashion sector 
as well as invaluable long-term outcomes such as increased 
industry skills, knowledge and training.  During the year, the Perth 
Fashion Festival received $200,000 from the Department for the 
WA Designer Fashion Showcases, Popsicle and the Fremantle 
Fashion Collective.  
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Indigenous art 
The Department provided core recurrent funding to four 
organisations to the value of $647,780: 
Magabala Books Aboriginal Corporation $  206,486  
Yirra Yaakin Noongar Theatre  $  292,235
Goolarri Media Enterprises Pty Ltd  $    74,059 
Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Cultural Centre $    75,000
Total $  647,780

 
Throughout the year, the Indigenous Arts Panel provided $232,098 
to 16 organisations and individuals and $21,400 to eight Artflight 
applicants.  Highlights of the year included: 

• Warakurna Artists Aboriginal Corporation received $20,820 to 
undertake an intergenerational sculpture project involving young 
and senior Ngaanyatjarra men. 

• Warmun Art Centre received $13,000 for inclusion of work by Gija 
artists of the Warmun Community in ‘No Name- Station’. This 
innovative cultural exchange project will involve a residency, two 
exhibitions, a major publication and public programs of activity 
across several locations in Australia and China in 2010-2011. 

• $200,000 was provided through the Department’s Looking 
Forward Fund for a three-year music development program for 
Ngaanyatjarra communities to develop a vibrant music industry. 

• The Department continued its support of the Canning Stock 
Route project, a unique project exploring the history and cultures 
of Indigenous communities around the Canning Stock Route. It 
provided $614,040 for a partnership between FORM and the 

National Museum of Australia for the Yiwarra Kuju exhibition at 
the National Museum and a repatriation and community access 
project to return all content collected during the project’s 
development to remote communities. 

• The Major Production Fund provided Yirra Yaakin with $515,000 
for a new Indigenous theatre work. 

• Grants of $10,000 were provided to develop concept projects 
from Tjanpi Weavers - Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara 
Yankunytjatjara Women’s Council and Warmun Arts Centre. 

The Department secured $98,000 from the Department of the 
Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts to undertake the second 
‘Revealed’ emerging Indigenous artist showcase and marketplace 
scheduled for April 2011. It also contributed to the final report for 
the Noongar Country Cultural Tourism Strategy – the culmination of 
a partnership between Tourism WA, the Department, the 
Department of Indigenous Affairs, Indigenous Business Australia 
and the Southern Aboriginal Corporation.  

Regional and community arts 
The Department provides core recurrent funding to three regional 
and community membership and service organisations to the value 
of $772,830.  A further $1,168,223 is devolved to regional and 
community organisations to distribute on behalf the Department 
(see report on devolved funding page 24). 
 
Community Arts Network WA Inc  $    161,632  
Country Arts (WA) Inc  $    444,174  
Kulcha Multicultural Arts of WA Inc  $    167,024  
Total $    772,830 
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Funding for regional and community arts through the Arts 
Development Panel (across all art forms) totalled $461,668, with 42 
applications supported. This included: 
• 16 Artflight applications (for travel assistance) being supported to 

a total of $45,212 
• four visual arts projects being supported to a total of $64,590 
• two multi-art projects being supported to a total of $44,221 
• one writing project being supported to an amount of $15,000 
• one music project being supported to an amount of $10,800 
• 11 Indigenous arts projects being supported to a total of 

$214,412 
• three contemporary music projects being supported to a total of 

$20,000 
• two designer fashion projects being supported to a total of 

$19,722  
• two youth projects being supported to a total of $27,711. 
Other highlights included: 

• In partnership with the Department of Regional Development and 
Lands, the Department continued to enhance opportunities for 
regional communities to see the State’s premier opera, 
orchestral, theatre and ballet companies in local settings. A total 
of $402,602 was awarded to the major performing arts 
companies for regional arts touring in 2009. 

• The Department distributed $454,631 towards the development 
and implementation of strategic regional arts and culture projects 
through its Looking Forward Fund.  The fund aims to improve 
access and participation in arts and cultural activity and to find 

new ways to support arts and cultural development in regional, 
rural and remote communities.  

• In addition to the Indigenous projects mentioned previously, 
grants of $10,000 were provided for concept development of 
projects to Country Arts WA, Ausdance WA and the  Museum of 
Contemporary Art NSW for  a program of works in regional WA. 

• To support the plans of Country Arts WA to host the State 
Regional Arts Conference in 2011 in Geraldton, the Department 
committed $30,000 towards the core costs of the conference and 
a further $20,000 through its Special Travel Assistance Program 
to support professional regionally-based artists to attend the 
conference.  

• In August 2010, the National Regional Arts Conference, ‘Junction 
2010’, will be held in Launceston, Tasmania. The Department will 
provide a total of $19,979 through its Special Travel Assistance 
Funding Program to nine regionally-based artists and arts 
workers to attend this conference. 

Disability and the arts 
The Department funds Disability in the Arts Disadvantage in the 
Arts WA (DADAA) on a recurrent basis and provided $113,661 in 
2009-2010. DADAA is WA’s peak organisation in the area of 
disability and the arts and has a regional focus both in the 
Kimberley and Esperance. In the final year of the Department’s 
collaborative partnership with the Disability Services Commission 
(DSC), the Disability Arts Inclusion Initiative (DAII) project continued 
to enhance community access for people with disabilities to 
everyday arts and cultural activities.   
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 Arts and disability activities were highlighted at the annual DSC 
‘Count Us In Awards’ at the Burswood Ballroom with more than 
4,000 guests viewing performances by dancers and musicians 
from DADAA, Swan Friendship Club and Junkadelic.   

Young people and the arts 
The Department provides core, recurrent funding to 12 young 
people and the arts organisations to the value of $1,930,530; 
included in this is $8,000 to the Children’s Book Council of Australia 
(WA) for regional programs. 
Buzz Dance Theatre Limited  $    282,427 
Awesome Arts Australia Ltd  $    188,951 
Barking Gecko Theatre Company $    406,089 
Children's Book Council Of Australia (WA)  $      38,870 
Fremantle Children's Literature Centre  $      40,150 
Propelarts  $    120,204 
Spare Parts Puppet Theatre  $    379,016 
Southern Edge Arts Inc.  $      71,015 
STEPS, Youth Dance Company  $    104,695 
WA Youth Jazz Orchestra  $      50,725 
WA Youth Music Association $    172,071
WA Youth Theatre Company  $      76,317 
Total $ 1,930,530
 

The Department’s Young People and the Arts Grants Program 
supports arts activities by, with and for young people aged 26 and 
under.  During the year, the Department funded 22 projects totalling 
$232,003. Highlights included: 

• The annual Young People and the Arts International Scholarship 
(open to applicants 29 or younger) was awarded to Konrad 
Paszkudzki ($29,681) to complete the second year of a Masters 
in Music (Instrumental Jazz Performance) at the University of 
Miami, Florida.  

• Three Young People and the Arts Fellowships were awarded to 
opera singer Shubhadra Young ($15,000), arts worker Susannah 
Day ($14,521) and illustrator Campbell Whyte ($15,000).  

• The monthly Young People and the Arts Quick Response 
program delivered $39,621 to 11 applicants this year. 

The Department partnered with the Department of Sport and 
Recreation this year to fund the Northbridge Youth Engagement 
Pilot Project, managed by Community Arts Network WA (CANWA).  
From February to June, weekly arts workshops were delivered in 
Midland and Armadale on Friday and Saturday evenings, providing 
a local alternative for young people affected by the Northbridge 
curfew.  The project will culminate in a screening of Beats, Breaks 
and Skills on 3 July in Northbridge, a documentary exploring the 
young participants' engagement in the workshops. The Department 
of Culture and Arts provided $80,000 for the pilot, which will be 
evaluated by December 2010.  



 
 
•
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 The Creative Education Partnerships: Artist-in-Residence (AIR) 
Initiative is a Federal Government pilot funding program 
developed in partnership with the Australia Council for the Arts, 
Department of Culture and the Arts and Department of Education 
(DoE). Launched in June 2009, the program is designed to 
support artist-in-residence activity in public schools and 
universities and to improve students’ access to high quality arts in 
education programs in this State. The Department and DoE were 
awarded $280,000 in 2009 – the highest grant in Australia – to 
implement the pilot in WA.  In May, the Australia Council for the 
Arts signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department and DoE to contribute a further $280,000 in 2010 
and again in 2011. 

Collections sector 
The Department provided core recurrent funding of $47,638 to 
Museums Australia WA and $42,439 to the Royal Historical Society 
WA.  Other highlights included: 
• Commencement of the Collections Care Goldfields hub project, a 

two-year national demonstration project delivered in partnership 
with the Collections Council of Australia (CCA), the Myer 
Foundation and the City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder. The project aims 
to improve access to and care of the Goldfields region’s rich 
collections.  The Department matched a contribution of $120,000 
from the Myer Foundation through CCA.   

• $30,000 to Museums Australia WA for projects related to the 
introduction of National Standards for Museums and Galleries, 
website redevelopment and scoping of a Collections Sector 
Training Needs Review.  

 

Devolved funding 
The Department contracts a number of non-government 
organisations to manage the allocation and distribution of funding 
on its behalf. The objectives of this ‘devolved’ funding are to ensure 
the optimal use of public monies to deliver the best arts 
development outcomes through the most applicable organisational 
infrastructure. Devolvement builds the managerial capacity of 
community organisations and ensures that relevant community 
services are delivered through consistent, accountable, equitable 
and accessible processes.  
 

Community Arts Network WA  
The Catalyst Community Arts Fund supports projects that facilitate 
community-determined arts and culture activities that express local 
culture and identity and promote the values of community 
empowerment, social inclusion, respect for diversity and self-
determination. A total of $266,821 is allocated annually to this 
program. 
 
The Creative Networks Fund is designed to support local regional 
government authorities to develop their capacity to use art and 
culture to improve the lives of their citizens. The grants provide 
skills development, mentoring and networking with intensive 
training.  A total of $90,962 is allocated annually to this program. 
 



 
 
Country Arts WA 
The following funding is allocated through the Regional Arts 
Development Program:  
• $25,000 annually to the Country Arts Project Scheme  

• $270,440 to Category A, B and C Regional Arts Organisations 
that are funded annually 

• $25,000 for the Literature Touring Program, of which $17,000 is 
allocated to WritingWA and $8,000 to the Children’s Book 
Council. 

Touring programs 
Funding for touring programs includes: 
• Performing Arts Touring Program – $335,000 

• Schools Touring Program – $85,000  

• Louder (the Contemporary Music Touring Program) – $25,000 
per annum.  

 

Art philanthropy and sponsorships 
Two new sponsorship incentives were announced in December 
2007 to encourage and enhance financial contributions to the arts 
by business and trusts. This acknowledged the importance of 
developing additional financial support for the arts sector. These 
programs continued during the year as follows:  
• The Philanthropy Incentive Program encourages individuals, 

groups of individuals, and businesses to establish private 
ancillary funds (formally prescribed private funds), foundations or 

other charitable trusts that are philanthropic to the arts, by 
contributing an amount of up to 7.5 per cent (to a maximum of 
$50,000) of the initial capital funds to an arts organisation of the 
Fund’s choice.  This funding is promoted by Artsupport, a 
program of the Australia Council that works closely with 
government, cultural, corporate, financial and philanthropic 
sectors to develop effective strategies for giving. 

• The Premier’s Arts Partnership Fund (PAPF) is a partnership 
between the Department, Australia Business Arts Foundation, 
and Mirvac WA. PAPF encourages small-to-medium businesses 
(SMEs) to partner the arts by matching the financial commitment 
of an SME to an arts organisation – effectively doubling the value 
of the partnership. During the year, PAPF supported 20 new 
partnerships, matching the $100,745 raised from the private 
sector in support of the arts.  

The Department’s partnership with the Australia Council for the Arts 
resulted in the establishment of a new WA manager for Artsupport 
Australia in 2008. This partnership continued successfully into 
2009-2010. 
 
Investment in infrastructure 
Infrastructure planning for culture and the arts in WA needs to 
ensure that investment decisions reflect a thorough assessment of 
opportunities for shared infrastructure that will meet long-term 
needs and offer the public value for money.  This includes 
consideration of partnerships with other State agencies, other tiers 
of government and the private sector in the construction and/or 
operation of a venue. For example, the Department currently leases 
under-utilised property owned by the State Government to provide 
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space for emerging arts groups, thereby saving the significant cost 
of purchasing or building premises for these groups.  
 
Another area where public value can be optimised is the 
establishment of venues that have the flexibility to meet multiple 
needs, as demonstrated by the State Theatre Centre of Western 
Australia.  Located directly below the venue’s main 575-seat 
theatre, which will provide a more traditional theatre experience, is 
an underground ‘blackbox’ theatre that is designed for multiple use. 
The Studio Underground’s 200 seats can be completely removed or 
reconfigured in a number of ways to accommodate a wide range of 
performance activities, as well as being available to the business 
sector for product launches and presentations. This flexible design 
will make it suitable for a wide range of uses, while also generating 
ongoing income.   
 
During the year, eight arts and cultural-based organisations shared 
$3million in funding from the Arts Capital Fund to improve their 
venues in ways that have enhanced the public’s experience of each 
organisation’s activity. Funding was received by PICA, the Film and 
Television Institute of WA, DADAA, Magabala Books, Spare Parts 
Puppet Theatre, Artrage Inc, Artsource and the Performing Arts 
Centre Society (The Blue Room Theatre).  Six of the eight projects 
are complete and included upgrades to seating and performance 
areas, improved technical equipment for art studios, theatre, film 
production, exhibition areas and contemporary music performance.  
 

Public value for arts events 
This year, the Department worked with the Australia Business Arts 
Foundation (AbaF) to merge two separate award schemes – the 
WA Business Arts Partnership Awards (WABAPA) and the AbaF 
State Awards – into a single event. The merging of these two 
awards into the WA Cultural Achievement Awards recognises that 
one event with a joint focus is a more effective way of promoting the 
benefits of supporting arts and culture and rewarding those 
businesses that do so.  As well as achieving significant cost 
savings, the merger has been well received by both the arts and 
business communities, as duplication of entries had become an 
onerous administration burden on those completing the 
submissions. 
 
However, the Department decided not to renew its financial 
sponsorship of the Australia Business Arts Foundation’s national 
Cultural Achievement Awards. While it recognises the importance 
and value of acknowledging corporate support of the arts, it was 
determined that the financial support should be reinvested into 
directly supporting arts and culture in WA. 
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Strategic Objective 3: The Department’s role in 
delivering culture and arts policy will be 
strengthened by clear relationships with all 
stakeholders 

The Department exists within a complex system of relationships 
that impact upon its role and influence on government arts and 
culture policy development. By clarifying and strengthening 
relationships with stakeholders, the Department will be maintaining 
its leadership of State arts and culture policy and funding.  
 
Consulting on arts policy and priorities 

The collections sector 
The Collections Sector Advisory Committee has been established 
by the Department as part of its Community Collections Action Plan 
(CCAP). It comprises a cross-section of expertise and 
representation within the collections sector – represented by 
museums, libraries, galleries, archivists, historical societies and 
other collecting institutions. The committee’s role is to provide a 
direct line of communication within the collections sector to the 
Department, provide advice on the implementation of the CCAP, 
identify issues that extend across the collections sector and provide 
input into the Department’s longer-term strategies in the collections 
area. 
 
The Department continued multi-year contract funding of Museums 
Australia WA (MAWA) and funding of $10,000 towards a collections 
sector training needs analysis to be coordinated by MAWA.  This 
project will achieve a comprehensive review of the current training 

and development scenario within the collections sector of WA, 
determine the sector training and development needs in the 
medium-term and make recommendations as to the appropriate 
training and development initiatives required to meet those needs. 
 
Infrastructure developments 
The Department worked with the Department of Treasury and 
Finance to progress business cases for arts infrastructure 
developments (see page 32). 
 
The State Government’s Works Reform Business Solutions Plan 
(2009) stipulates that all business cases must be co-developed with 
the Building Management and Works team within Treasury and 
Finance or, for the larger, more complex or high-risk projects, with 
its Strategic Projects team. It also stipulates that agencies need to 
place more emphasis on capital works planning and to transfer 
primary carriage of project delivery to the Department of Treasury 
and Finance.  This has seen the development of a governance 
arrangement where the Department of Treasury and Finance, the 
Department of Culture and the Arts and the relevant portfolio 
organisation work together on business cases, accurately reflecting 
the respective roles, responsibilities and skill sets of the 
organisations involved.  
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Strengthening networks and knowledge-sharing 
activities 
Community arts 
The Department continued to build its relationships with local 
government arts and cultural networks through its participation on 
the steering committee for the Cultural Development Forum, 
facilitated by Community Arts Network WA. Through the committee, 
forums are presented through local governments for professional 
development in management, policy and presentation of cultural 
material, art collections and public art.  
 
Supporting the interests of young people in the arts, the 
Department participated in quarterly meetings of the WA Youth 
Grant Collaboration Forum and joined the WA Graffiti Taskforce 
and Northbridge Working Group. The Department also worked with 
the Commissioner for Children and Young People to deliver a 
seminar entitled ‘Engaging with Children and Young People through 
the Arts’ during the 2010 Perth International Arts Festival. 
 
Arts education 
ArtsEdge, a strategic partnership between the Department and the 
Department of Education (DoE) continued to facilitate greater 
collaboration between the education, arts and cultural sectors 
throughout the year. The ongoing core business of ArtsEdge 
includes: targeted professional development sessions for 
practitioners in both sectors; production of publications and 
resources; and the maintenance of a dedicated program website. In 
addition, the program acts as an advocacy vehicle for the promotion 

of unique and transforming arts-in-education experiences for WA 
teachers, students, artists and arts and cultural organisations. 
 
Partnerships between the sectors were further strengthened in 
2009 with the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between ArtsEdge, on behalf of the Department and DoE, and 
three Culture and Arts portfolio organisations – the Art Gallery of 
WA, WA Museum (Perth) and the State Library of WA. ‘Thinking 
Inside The Triangle’ was created as a professional development 
workshop for educators, providing them with detailed information 
about the suite of programs on offer at the three Perth Cultural 
Centre institutions and creative ways to explore the venues and 
collections.  
 
Media relationships 
In August 2009, the Department conducted its annual journalist 
program in association with The West Australian newspaper group.  
The program aims to introduce new journalists to arts and culture in 
WA and to establish positive and effective relationships between 
the local media, the Department and the arts and cultural sector. 
Six journalists participated in the program, which involved a full day 
of visits and presentations with seven arts organisations including 
Perth Theatre Trust venues and the Art Gallery of WA.   
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Developing partnerships to broaden culture and arts 
experiences 
Art in the landscape 
The Department’s long-term partnership with the Department of 
Treasury and Finance’s Building Management and Works division 
continued to resource, implement and advocate for the State 
Government Percent for Art Scheme. This scheme encourages 
allocation up to one per cent of the estimated total construction cost 
of each State capital works project (valued at $2 million and over) to 
a commissioned WA artwork. This applies to refurbishments as well 
as new building works. The scheme recognises the intrinsic value 
of arts being seen, heard and felt in buildings and is designed to 
make structures like courts and police stations more welcoming.  At 
the same time, it creates new professional and economic 
opportunities for local artists.  
 
Another key relationship this year has been with the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority (EPRA), which has primary responsibility 
for the revitalisation of the Perth Cultural Centre. The Department is 
working with EPRA to look at ways that the Centre can be made 
more attractive and welcoming to a broader range of people, so that 
rather than being regarded as a formal gateway to the State’s arts 
and cultural institutions, it is seen as a friendly and inclusive space 
that invites interaction with this sector in new and less formal ways. 
For example, the Department is working with EPRA to develop a 
public art program that will engage artists from different disciplines 
to create non-permanent and ephemeral works within the precinct.  
 

In 2009, the Department initiated an international sculpture 
competition, ‘situate’, which has resulted in a $1million public art to 
commission artist James Angus as part of the redevelopment of the 
Forrest Place pedestrian square in Perth’s central business district.  
The competition attracted 200 entries worldwide and brought 
together a national jury of experts to assess the submissions and 
participate in local discussions about art, architecture and urban 
design. The project which was the result of co-operation between 
the Department, the City of Perth and other agencies including the 
Office of the Government Architect, the State Solicitors Office and 
the Urban Design Centre of WA, has provided a new model for 
inter-government commissioning for public art.  
 
Offshore activities 
This was the final year of a four-year Indian Ocean Territories 
Service Delivery Arrangement (SDA) between the Department and 
the Australian Government’s Attorney General’s Department.  The 
SDA aims to provide the communities of Christmas Island and 
Cocos (Keeling) Islands with services commensurate to those 
provided to similarly remote WA communities. The SDA budget for 
the reporting period was $191,798 and covered activities by the 
Department, Country Arts WA, Community Arts Network WA, Art 
On The Move and the WA Museum.  During 2010 the SDA was 
reviewed by representatives from the Australian and State 
governments and a new SDA for 2011-2014 is being finalised. 
 
The Department also continued to work throughout the year with 
the Department of State Development and the WA Global Network 
(WAGN) with regard to the inclusion of arts and cultural activities in 
overseas promotions. Advice was provided in relation to cultural 
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content for sister-state milestone activities and Australian 
Government international programs and the Department 
participated in across-government committees such as the 
Overseas Offices Board Interagency Coordination Group and the 
WA-Zhejiang Working Group. The Department also worked closely 
with Department of State Development to maximise participation of 
WA artists in the Shanghai World Expo 2010 (1 May to 31 October 
2010). 
 
Partnerships with government 
The Department maintains a range of partnerships across State 
and Federal Government to deliver services that effectively and 
efficiently coordinate government resources.  It also provides 
comment on the policy and strategy initiatives of other Government 
departments that may impact on the culture and arts sector.  In 
2009-2010, the Department had a formal Memorandum of 
Understanding with each of the following State and Federal 
Government departments: 
• Department of Local Government and Regional Development 
• Department of Regional Development and Lands 
• Department of Education 
• Department of State Development 
• Disability Services Commission 
• Attorney General’s Department 
• Australia Council for the Arts 
• Australian Research Council 
• Department of Environment Water Heritage and the Arts. 
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Strategic Objective 4: The Department will establish 
culture and arts infrastructure policy with a focus 
on the potential of new technologies 

 
Cultural infrastructure is an essential component to the effective 
delivery of culture and arts experiences to the WA community. 
Through its policy development role, the Department will aim to 
make cultural infrastructure a key component in culture and arts 
planning throughout the community. Utilising new technology will be 
vital to achieving the desired reach of our services to the WA 
community, and thereby delivering our stories and experiences to 
the world.  
 
Responding to changing public expectations 
Historically, many culture and arts experiences have been delivered 
in dedicated venues – museums, galleries, theatres, concert halls 
and the like – that prescribe the type of experience that can be 
expected and the way the audience should relate to it; and often, 
the role of audience member, patron or viewer is quite passive.  
 
However, as new art forms are explored and technology offers new 
points of access and interaction for audiences, people are 
increasingly wanting to take a more active role in their culture and 
arts experiences and to enjoy them in more diverse settings. The 
ability to provide images online, to digitise information, to allow 
patrons to directly interact with exhibits and tell their own story (via 
blogs and other social media, SMS communication, digital cameras 

and other new technologies) signals that the way we provide 
access to the State’s art, culture and history is evolving.  
While there will always be a need for purpose-built venues for 
specific art forms, there is a growing need for the sector to revisit its 
overall approach to the provision of arts and culture infrastructure. 
As well as providing buildings that will be sophisticated enough to 
adapt to changing needs, the sector is increasingly exploring how 
technology can be used to deliver quality cultural and arts 
experiences to a broader range of people, including those who 
don’t feel comfortable entering the sector’s traditional venues. 
These alternative forms of delivery also have the potential to reduce 
operational costs in the long-term.  
 
Sector-wide infrastructure planning  
During the year, the Department of Treasury and Finance allocated 
all capital funding for the culture and arts portfolio directly to the 
Department, rather than to the portfolio agencies.  This included 
funding for asset maintenance, new buildings and building 
upgrades, asset planning and business case development.  This 
has resulted in the development of a new model for identifying, 
prioritising and funding maintenance across the sector. To be 
implemented in July 2010, this new model will ensure transparency 
and accountability in all decision-making and ensure that funding is 
directed at agreed priority projects. In planning for any 
infrastructure, the first step is to identify the service need and to 
then assess all potential asset and non-asset solutions.  
Increasingly, new technologies are being applied across the culture 
and arts sector as a means to address service needs and reduce 
operational costs.  
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In 2009-2010, the culture and arts portfolio commenced work on the 
following business cases: 
• a new museum for the Perth Cultural Centre 
• a storage solution for the State’s growing body of archives and 

records (including digitisation strategies) 
• additional funding for asset maintenance 
• energy efficiency measures for cultural infrastructure which, 

because of the continuous need for climate controlled 
environments to safely house and store collections, is a large 
energy consumer. 

 
In addition to these business cases, the culture and arts portfolio 
has coordinated project definition plans for the demolition of the 
Museum’s Francis Street building which contains asbestos and the 
re-cladding of the building façade of the Art Gallery of WA.  These 
projects will be completed by the end of 2011.  
 
Funding allocated through the Maintenance and Heritage Capital 
Program was expended, with all approved projects on the 2009-
2010 program completed. Larger projects included an upgrade to 
the airconditioning system at the King Street Arts Centre, while 
smaller projects included safety upgrades and improvements to 
universal access and fire compliance in a range of venues.  
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Agency Performance: State Records Office  

The State Records Office (SRO) is charged with ensuring that the 
State’s history – the story of decision-making by governments and 
how the delivery of government policy and services to the 
community intersects with the lives of ordinary people – is 
documented, preserved and made available to future generations. 
The State’s archives document the history of WA from Colonial 
settlement to the present day and are of value to a wide range of 
users including academics, historians and government and 
corporate stakeholders who want access to official sources of 
information.   
 
Today, information is being generated in greater volume by 
government and is in equally greater demand by the community. 
Technological developments are also creating new challenges and 
opportunities in terms of capturing, preserving and managing 
information.  
 
Though administratively part of the Department, the State Records 
Office has a whole-of-government role. It therefore has its own 
strategic plan, with outcomes measured against its performance in 
the following areas: 
• regulatory role 

• intellectual control of State archives 

• preservation of the State archives collection 

• access and outreach. 
 

The following information details the SRO’s achievements in 
fulfilling these roles throughout the year and increasing the capacity 
of government to respond to the State’s evolving information needs. 
 
Regulatory role 
Recordkeeping standards 
One of the chief functions of the SRO is to provide administrative 
and operational support to the State Records Commission (the 
Commission). The Commission is established by the State Records 
Act 2000 (the Act) and consists of four members: the Auditor 
General, the State Ombudsman, the Freedom of Information 
Commissioner, and a recordkeeping professional who is the 
Governor’s appointee.    
 
Under section 61 of the Act, the Commission is required to 
establish principles and standards governing recordkeeping by all 
State and local government agencies. This year the SRO released 
for stakeholder comment a General Disposal Authority for Local 
Government Records. This consultation process was completed in 
June 2010 and it is anticipated that the Commission will formally 
approve the final version of this General Disposal Authority in late 
2010. 
 
During the year, the SRO released online an information sheet 
pertaining to local government elected members records. This will 
enable municipal and shire council members to identify those 
records that should be eventually sent to their local government for 
capture as government records.  
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Recordkeeping plans 
The Act requires all government organisations to have an approved 
recordkeeping plan, review the plan at least every five years and 
submit a report on the review to the Commission. During the year, 
the SRO evaluated and processed the recordkeeping plans of 127 
government organisations, along with the records retention and 
disposal schedules of another 32 government organisations and 
reported to the Commission regarding those documents.   
 
Compliance monitoring 
During the year, the SRO completed phase two of a program 
designed to monitor agency compliance under section 60 of the 
Act. Phase two, which was conducted in two parts, focused on 
those agencies required by legislation to maintain certain records 
associated with the licensing of caravan parks and camping 
grounds and those agencies required by legislation to maintain 
‘management plans’. The results were presented to the 
Commission at its June 2010 meeting and indicated that the 
government agencies surveyed generally comply with legislative 
requirements to maintain certain prescribed records and manage 
those records in accordance with their recordkeeping plans. 
 
State Records Commission support 
This year the SRO supported four meetings of the Commission. 
One meeting was held at and hosted by the City of Mandurah, 
enabling Commissioners and senior SRO staff to meet State and 
local government representatives and local media from the Murray-
Peel region.  
 

The SRO also supports the work of the State Records Advisory 
Committee. This body is empowered by the Commission to 
examine and endorse all records retention and disposal authorities 
compiled by government agencies, prior to their referral to the 
Commission for final approval. The Committee met four times this 
year and considered and endorsed 23 disposal authorities, which 
were then submitted to the Commission for approval.  
 
The SRO also organised the judging and presentation of two 
awards sponsored by the State Records Commission: 
 
• The Award for Excellence in Compliance Reporting (ie reporting 

by government agencies on compliance with their recordkeeping 
plans as per Commission Standard 2, Principle 6), was presented 
this year to the Fremantle Port Authority at the Institute of Public 
Administration Australia’s WS Lonnie Awards (2008-2009 Annual 
Reports) in June 2010. 

• The Margaret Medcalf Award, presented each year in recognition 
of a work which shows excellence in referencing sources in the 
State archives collection, was this year awarded to Kevin 
Fitzgerald and Chris Owen of the South West Aboriginal Land 
and Sea Council 
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The SRO also assisted the Commission with the investigation of 
several alleged recordkeeping breaches of the Act that were 
reported to it during the year.  These alleged breaches will be 
reported in the Commission’s Annual Report. 
 
The Commission is required to report to State Parliament before 1 
November each year on matters concerning the operation of the 
Act. Since 2002 the SRO has compiled this annual report on the 
Commission’s behalf. The Commission’s Annual Report for 2008-
2009 was tabled in State Parliament on 22 September 2009. 
 
Intellectual control of State archives 
Archives Explored Online (AEON) 
AEON is the acronym for the online catalogue of archives held in 
the State archives collection at the SRO, accessible via the SRO’s 
homepage at www.sro.wa.gov.au. The record items identified on 
AEON can be viewed at the SRO’s search room in the Perth 
Cultural Centre.  
 
Since November 2004, the SRO has engaged the services of First 
Choice Employment, a Commonwealth government work 
experience service provider, on a data entry project to enter item 
titles from the SRO’s manual catalogue to an electronic format, 
which is then transported to AEON. This year, 14,000 items were 
added to the database and the project was broadened to include 
names of former government teachers and railway employees, 
linked to the individual record of service cards held by the SRO. 
 

Online Retention and Disposal Application (ORDA) 
The SRO is leading the development of a new web-based 
application that will enable government agency staff in Western 
Australia to compile records retention and disposal schedules 
online for consideration by the SRO and eventual approval by the 
Commission. At present, most agency-specific retention and 
disposal schedules are received and assessed by the SRO in hard 
copy format. 
 
In March, the SRO co-sponsored (with the Records Management 
Association of Australia (WA) and Information Enterprises Australia) 
a presentation on the ORDA concept to around 50 recordkeeping 
professionals in Perth.   
 
The SRO intends to have this online retention and disposal 
application operational by the end of 2010-11. It is envisaged that 
most disposal authorities which are developed under this 
application will eventually be made accessible online to all 
government agencies. This functionality will enable the SRO’s 
recordkeeping clients to make more informed decisions about 
record sentencing (e.g. determining the length of time a record 
should be kept) when compiling their own retention and disposal 
schedules.  
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Digital Archive Pilot  
In November 2009, the SRO completed a digital archive pilot 
project involving a small group of government agencies that have 
strong electronic recordkeeping regimes.  The project’s purpose 
was to test the digital archives process with a small sample of 
participants in order to inform the business case for a whole-of-
government archival solution. The results of the project indicate a 
need for further development of the prototype involving a larger 
sample of agencies in 2010-2011.  
 
Preservation of the State archives collection 

State Archives Repository 
Under section 32 of the Act, all Government organisations must 
transfer their archives to the custody of the Director of State 
Records when the archives become 25 years old unless their 
recordkeeping plan says otherwise. Since July 2001, the SRO has 
been unable to accept transfers of State archives from State and 
Local Government, due to the lack of appropriate storage space in 
the State’s archival repository.  During the year the SRO, with the 
Director General’s support, has made considerable progress 
towards the completion of a formal business case for a new 
archives facility, for submission to the Department of Treasury and 
Finance in late 2010.   
 
Preservation Program   
The SRO shares archives storage space in the Perth Cultural 
Centre with the State Library of Western Australia. Under current 
arrangements, the State Library’s Preservation Branch provides the 

SRO with general conservation advice and implements a small 
annual SRO microfilming and digitisation program.  
 
Access and outreach 

Reference and access services 
The SRO maintains a public search room in the Perth Cultural 
Centre where researchers may view State archives in hard copy 
and microfilm formats. A limited reference service is also provided 
to clients who are unable to visit Perth.    
During the year, the SRO implemented a project to provide the 
public with online access to digital copies of early Lands 
Department exploration, survey and cadastral maps and plans. This 
ongoing project was made possible with seed funding from the 
Sholl Bequest, which is administered by the Friends of the Battye 
Library Inc. Between December 2009 and June 2010, more than 
6,000 images of (previously digitised) maps and plans were made 
available for public access on AEON. During this period the images 
were viewed online 13,800 times. 
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Public programs 
The SRO organises an annual program of public events to promote 
use of records in the State archives collection. This year’s events 
comprised:   

• five lunchtime public seminars concerning research into aspects 
of Western Australia’s history requiring access to, or use of, 
records held in the State archives collection. 

• the fifth annual Geoffrey Bolton Lecture, held in November at the 
Government House Ballroom. This year’s speaker, Western 
Australia’s Chief Scientist, Professor Lyn Beazley AO, addressed 
the audience on the subject of ‘The evolution of scientific records 
and challenges in the digital universe’.  

• the annual commemoration of the release of the State Cabinet 
papers from their 30-year access embargo, which has been 
occurring since 2002. This year, on Foundation Day, the SRO 
acknowledged the release of the 1979 Cabinet papers by making 
available an Index and Guide to the Cabinet Minutes and 
Decisions for that year on its website, and issuing a media 
release. 

In addition, the SRO and Fremantle Prison co-sponsored a lecture 
in October commemorating the centenary of the execution of 
Martha Rendell – the last woman to be hanged in Western 
Australia. The evening lecture, held at the prison and followed by a 
tour of the gallows, was presented by Professor Anna Haebich, 
Director of the Centre for Public Culture and Ideas at Griffith 
University.  
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Organisational Support 

Managing our people 

The Human Resources unit continued to provide services across 
the portfolio to support workplace issues and needs, including the 
development and implementation of human resource policy, 
planning and development initiatives, industrial relations support 
and the offering of staff training.  Significant activities throughout 
the year included: 
 
• the development of an Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) and 

Diversity Management plan for 2010-2012. A reference group 
consisting of representatives from each of the portfolio agencies 
convened on three occasions to discuss objectives and initiatives 
to be included in the plan. Given the current economic 
environment the portfolio is operating in – resulting in reduced 
recruitment activity and the non-renewal of short-term contracts – 
the focus was on retention rather than recruitment initiatives. 
These include the consideration of all employees for internal 
development and training opportunities; updating and promotion 
of the Department’s Flexible Working Arrangements Policy; 
maintenance of contact with staff on extended leave; and the 
development of programs to support the retention of Indigenous 
staff.  

• the development of a response to the Public Sector 
Commission’s document Strategic Directions for the Public 
Sector Workforce 2009–2014, which outlines the current and 
future workforce challenges facing the public sector in its key 
workforce planning areas. At the end of the reporting year, the 

Department had consulted with portfolio CEOs and formed a 
reference group to develop a workforce plan tailored to the 
specific requirements of the portfolio. This will address the 
challenges presented by the portfolio’s ageing workforce and the 
subsequent need to develop strategies to manage this future loss 
of knowledge and experience. It also acknowledges the 
challenges of recruiting and retaining quality staff presented by 
the recent upswing in the mining and resources industry. This 
plan is expected to be finalised during 2010-2011.  

• the development of a Manager Education Program to address an 
identified lack of understanding by managers of their full range of 
responsibilities within the public sector context. In addition to 
presentations, the program will be made available via the 
Department’s intranet.  

• the ongoing provision of professional short-term counselling to 
employees and their families through the Employee Assistance 
Program. The utilisation rate this year was 3.18 per cent, based 
on 819 employees. 

• the portfolio-wide roll-out of the ‘Managing People Issues’ 
component of the Leadership Development Program to all line 
managers to assist them in managing employee behaviour.  

• the continued delivery of the Portfolio Induction Program to 
provide new and existing employees with information on their 
rights and obligations, including portfolio-wide policies and 
procedures and behaviour standards. 
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Equity and diversity 
Each year, the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity provides 
statistics to the Department on its progression towards reaching 
goals regarding workplace diversity, as part of the ‘How Does Your 
Agency Compare?’ survey. Results of the 2009 survey (based on a 
survey response rate of 79.7 per cent across the portfolio) showed 
that: the portfolio maintained better representation of women in 
management and people from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds than the public sector representation; the portfolio is 
underperforming with regards to the employment of Indigenous 
Australians, people with disabilities and youth (under 25 years), 
although the representation of youth as a percentage of all 
employees was the highest it has been in six years. Areas of 
underperformance are being addressed through the portfolio’s EEO 
and Diversity Management Plan 2010-2012.  
 
Risk management and business continuity 

A risk management framework (supporting compliance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction TI 825) continued to be embedded in the 
organisation throughout the year. Operational risks are reviewed by 
risk owners in the Department through a web-based software 
program.  Accountabilities and responsibilities for the risks are 
clearly outlined, with oversight from the Department’s Risk 
Management Committee. Strategic risks have been identified and 
will be monitored through the Department’s Strategic Planning 
review cycle. 
 
Meanwhile, the Department’s Business Continuity Plan has been 
developed and endorsed, providing directions to staff in the event of 

a disaster, threat or prolonged outage affecting departmental 
operations. 
 
Ongoing education is provided to managers and key staff on risk 
management and business continuity. 
 
Audit and review 

Throughout the year, the Audit and Review section continued to 
support sound governance in the Department through the 
deployment of the annual audit plan. This resulted in the completion 
of 15 audits and follow-up reviews, including the assessment of key 
processes related to implementation of the Department’s new 
strategic plan. The area has, for example, identified where 
processes need to be improved to enhance data capture to better 
manage the Department’s vital knowledge assets. It has also 
identified where performance measures can be improved to provide 
a more meaningful indication of whether the Department is 
achieving its public value outcomes.  
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Significant Issues impacting on the 
Agency  
Portfolio organisations 

The vital role of arts and culture in the State’s development and 
wellbeing is reflected by 87 per cent of survey respondents 
supporting the Government’s investment in arts and culture and 88 
per cent recognising the role arts has in enabling us to 
understanding our own culture and way of life (Arts Monitor Survey, 
March 2010).  These values are complemented by a significant 
level of public demand, with attendance at arts and cultural events 
in Western Australia being consistently equal to or higher than the 
national average over the past four years. A range of issues impact 
on the ability of the sector to fulfill its important role in a shifting 
economic and cultural landscape: 
 
• Increasing community demand for sustainable ‘hard’ and ‘soft’ 

cultural infrastructure (buildings, technology, human resources) 
will require significant planning and investment into the future.  

• There is a recognised need to make the State’s collections of 
visual art, archival material and museum artefacts more 
accessible to the community, and digitisation is seen as a means 
to do this. With digitisation there are many issues to resolve 
(including copyright issues and the time and cost involved in 
converting information to a digital format) before a significant 
amount of material is available online.  However, the scope for 
this technology to make culture and the arts, particularly the 
State’s collections, available to all members of the community 

needs to be a key element of planning for delivery of culture and 
arts in the State.  

• Demand for community-based cultural activities and services in 
regional Western Australia are increasing.  

• As access to artistic and creative content becomes more 
interactive in our rapidly-evolving technological environment, the 
sector will need to embrace closer relationships with the for-profit 
sector in developing new and innovative ways of producing and 
distributing creative content.  

• In an increasingly networked world, identifying and strengthening 
the partnerships and connections needed to maintain and expand 
support for the culture and arts sector will become increasingly 
important.  

• Significant maintenance of the Art Gallery of Western Australia is 
required, along with investment in additional storage, online 
services and collection care. These issues impact on the capacity 
of the Gallery to care for its collection, acquire new works and 
deliver services in new and exciting ways, in line with 
contemporary galleries around the world.  

• Use of library services has changed dramatically in the past 10 
years and will continue to be challenged by the rapidly changing 
online environment.  Visitors to various services in the State 
Library building increased by 65 per cent this year, largely as a 
result of the refurbished ground floor Discovery Lounge, new 
exhibition spaces and outreach programs. The Library is seen as 
a welcoming community space offering access to the online 
world. 
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 Increasing need and costs of collection storage, curation, 
conservation and maintenance remains a significant challenge for 
the Museum.  

• Technologies are changing visitor expectations in the way that 
Museums are accessed. Ongoing technology advancements will 
require significant changes to the infrastructure and software. 
Additionally digitisation of the collection is an ongoing challenge. 

• Significant investment is required to maintain the theatres under 
the Perth Theatre Trust’s management to a desirable standard 
and to update infrastructure and technology: the current backlog 
of maintenance projects, for example, totals between $14million 
and $16million. Finding the funds to maintain and enhance these 
important cultural assets will be an ongoing challenge for the 
Trust within its current budget parameters. 

 

State Records Office 

The State Records Office (SRO) remains unable to accept the 
transfer of State archives from government agencies as its archival 
storage repository is full. This situation has prevailed since July 
2001, with an estimated 40 shelf km of State archives awaiting 
transfer to the SRO.  A business case for a sustainable archive, 
encompassing storage options for hard copy and digital archives, is 
expected to be submitted to Department of Treasury and Finance in 
late 2010.  
 



 
 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 
Ministerial directives 

The Department received no Ministerial directives throughout the 
year. 
 
Pricing policies 

No pricing policies apply to the Department as it is not a 
commercial agency. 
 
Major capital projects 

Cabinet endorsed funding for the State Theatre Centre of Western 
Australia in October 2004, in recognition of the long-standing need 
for state-of-the-art professional performance spaces with a drama 
focus. The project has an allocated budget of $91million, with 
construction scheduled for completion in 2010.  The construction 
contract is being managed by the Department of Treasury and 
Finance through its Building Management and Works division. 
 
Governance disclosures: interests of senior officers 

The Deputy Director General is married to the General Manager of 
the Perth Theatre Company which receives triennial funding from 
the Department and will be the associate resident company in the 
State Theatre Centre. The Deputy Director General is not  
involved in, and has no role in funding or other decisions 
concerning the Perth Theatre Company. 

Advertising expenditure 

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the 
Department is required to report on expenditure incurred during the 
financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and 
media advertising organisations. Details are as follows: 
 
Expenditure with advertising agencies 
Marketforce $18,265 
 
Expenditure with market research agencies 

Patterson Market Research $18,920 
Expenditure with market polling agencies $0 
Expenditure with direct mail agencies $0 
Expenditure with media advertising agencies: $31,808 

Adcorp Australia 
Arts Radio 
Entertainment IT 
Media Decisions 
Perth Bands 
Six Thousand 
Spaceship News 
The West Australian 

 
Total expenditure $68,993 
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Disability and Inclusion Plan outcomes 

The Department is committed to ensuring that people with 
disabilities, their families, friends and carers have the same 
opportunities, rights and responsibilities as others to access its arts 
and cultural services, information and facilities. The Department’s 
progress in meeting the desired outcomes of its Disability Access 
and Inclusion Plan is as follows. 
 
Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by, the Department. 
• An evaluation of the Grants for Artists with Disabilities pilot 

project was completed. The recommendations are being 
considered as part of the Department’s funding process review. 

 
Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of the Department. 
• Auditing of external access to all Department buildings has 

continued. A list has been developed of required building and 
facility amendments and the associated costs with items 
prioritised and some funding approved. 

• The Department’s reception desk at the Law Chambers Building 
was redesigned to incorporate a lowered section to improve 
access for people in wheelchairs and signage was upgraded. 

• An access audit was conducted on the accessible toilet in the 
Law Chambers Building and issues were reported to the building 
manager (Colliers) to implement the changes. 

• Accessible toilets at several Department sites were upgraded 
with distress alarms installed and lever-type handles fitted to 
doors.  

 
Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information 
from the Department in a format that will enable them to 
access the information as readily as other people are 
able to access it. 
• All new publications, including the grants handbooks and grant 

application forms, follow the typeface, branding and layout 
guidelines contained in the Department’s style guide. This 
complies with Disability Services Commission guidelines for 
making information accessible.  

• A variety of alternative and accessible formats are available upon 
request.  A statement of their availability is included in a 
prominent position on all publications. 

• The Department’s website meets all requirements detailed by 
W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. All documents 
available for download are tagged for accessibility and, where 
possible, are provided in an alternative plain text file format. All 
videos have transcripts attached. 
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Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Department as other people receive from the staff of the 
Department. 
• A presentation on disability access and inclusion, including 

customer service for people with disabilities, is included in the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio Induction Program that is attended by 
all new employees. 

 
Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints to the 
Department. 
• The Department’s complaints process is easily accessible online. 

Feedback and complaints mechanisms are in place and are 
currently being reviewed to ensure they are being appropriately 
implemented. 

 
Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by the Department. 
• To support people with disabilities, their families and carers to 

attend external consultations and public gatherings, the 
Department provides event information in clear, concise language 
and in accessible formats. It also holds events in accessible 
venues and provides consultation information in alternative 
formats, upon request.   

 

Outcome 7: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to seek employment with 
the Department. 
• Strategies to recruit people with disabilities and to improve their 

access to employment opportunities are promoted to all line 
mangers through the recruitment, selection and appointment 
training provided by Human Resources.  

 
Compliance with public sector standards and ethical 
codes 
Compliance with the Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes is 
assessed regularly by the Department’s Human Resources area 
and the Public Sector Commission (in the case of a breach claim).  
 
In accordance with Section 31 of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994, the following is a report of the extent to which the 
Department has complied with Public Sector Standards, the 
Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and its own 
Departmental Code of Conduct. 
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COMPLIANCE 
ISSUE 

SIGNIFICANT ACTION TAKEN TO 
MONITOR AND ENSURE COMPLIANCE 

Public Sector 
Standards 
• Nil breaches 

• Information about Public Sector 
Standards is included on the intranet 
and incorporated into the 
Department’s Induction Program. 

• An education program for managers 
was implemented. 

• An internal audit conducted as part 
of the Department’s ongoing 
business improvement strategy 
found a non-compliance in the Staff 
Development System (the portfolio-
wide performance management 
system): a sample of 39 SDS files 
found that 16 (or 41 per cent) were 
not subject to the SDS. Actions have 
already been taken to address this.  

• Grievance and Performance 
Management has been incorporated 
into the Department’s Induction 
Program. 

• HR policies and guidelines have 
been developed to ensure 
compliance issues are recognised. 

 

 
COMPLIANCE 
ISSUE 

SIGNIFICANT ACTION TAKEN TO MONITOR 
AND ENSURE COMPLIANCE 

Western Australian 
Public Sector Code 
of Ethics 
• Nil breaches 
 

• An ethics and integrity awareness-raising 
program has been incorporated into the 
Induction program for new and existing 
employees.  It covers information on the 
Western Australian Public Sector Code of 
Ethics. 

Departmental Code 
of Conduct 
• Nil breaches 

• The Department’s Code of Conduct 
reflects the Western Australian Public 
Sector Code of Ethics. 

• The Code of Conduct has been 
incorporated into the Department’s 
Induction Program. 

• A discipline policy has been developed. 
 

 
The above information applies to the Department of Culture and the 
Arts and the State Records Office only: portfolio agencies (the WA 
Art Gallery, ScreenWest, the WA Museum, Perth Theatre Trust and 
State Library) provide their own information in their individual 
Annual Reports. 
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Recordkeeping Plans 

Department of Culture and the Arts Recordkeeping Plan 
In accordance with s28 (5) of the State Records Act 2000, the 
Department submitted the report of the review of its Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP) to the State Records Commission meeting in June 
2009.  In response, the Commission acknowledged the number of 
improvements detailed in the review of the Plan and requested an 
amended Plan be submitted to the State Records Office (SRO) in 
September 2010.   
 
The RKP for the Department is to provide evidence to show that: 
 
• The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 

recordkeeping system is evaluated not less than once every 
five years 

 
As part of the development of the amended Plan for the State 
Records Commission, the Department’s recordkeeping systems 
are being revised and updates and improvements incorporated 
as necessary.  During 2009-2010, the Internal Auditor undertook 
an audit of the records management function of the Department 
against the requirements of the State Records Act 2000 and the 
International Standard of Records Management (ISO 15489).  
The audit involved a consultancy with the SRO and provided 
recommendations on areas for improvement that are to be 
reported to the Executive Leadership Team and incorporated into 
the Department’s amended RKP. 

 

In 2009, an intranet site for information management was 
established. All record management policies, procedures and 
forms required by staff are now easily accessible via this site. 
 
The revised Retention and Disposal Schedule for the 
Department was approved by the State Records Commission in 
June and the records disposal program was subsequently 
revised and implemented.  In accordance with the Schedule, 
150 boxes of records past their due date for destruction were 
destroyed.  
 
Under the Department’s Knowledge Management Strategy, the 
first phased roll-out of the Electronic Document and Records 
Management System (EDRMS) commenced in November 2009.  
As a result of the success of this project, a full roll-out of the 
system is approved for 2010-2011. 
 

• The organisation conducts a recordkeeping training 
program 

 
A total of 31 training sessions were held in 2009-2010 to raise 
staff awareness of recordkeeping needs and provide instruction 
in recordkeeping systems.  Four sessions in recordkeeping 
responsibilities were also provided to Departmental managers 
as part of the Manager Education Program.  Recordkeeping 
staff also broadened their skills through attendance at two 
briefing sessions on information management and in-house 
training in the EDRMS. 
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 The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping 
training program is reviewed from time to time 

 
The recordkeeping training program is reviewed regularly and 
staff usage of the EDRMS is monitored to identify gaps in usage. 
Training material is subsequently updated to address areas of 
weakness.  A questionnaire was developed in June to assess the 
effectiveness of the first phase of the EDRMS roll-out, with 
feedback incorporated to improve implementation strategies. 

 
 Statistics provided by the system provide evidence that the 

Department’s recordkeeping training is effective, with nearly 
20,000 documents registered into it this year, compared to only 
8,639 documents registered in 2005-2006. Many of the 
documents are now registered by Department staff.  The review 
of the EDRMS roll-out has demonstrated that the documents 
being created have quality metadata, which ensures the records 
are identifiable, accessible and manageable over time. 

 
• The organisation’s induction program addresses employee 

roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with 
the organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan 
 
The State Records Office provides induction training for all new 
Department and portfolio staff on a monthly basis, providing them 
with information about their recordkeeping responsibilities under 
the State Records Act 2000.  A brochure detailing staff 
recordkeeping responsibilities is also provided to all staff 
attending these sessions. 

 

State Records Office Recordkeeping Plan 
The following information is provided as evidence of compliance 
with legislative requirements (i.e. the State Records Act 2000 and 
the State Records Commission’s Standards). 
 
During 2009-2010 the State Records Office (SRO) reviewed 
internal recordkeeping systems and processes for effectiveness, 
and relevant areas for improvement were identified. Specific areas 
included: 
• a file audit to determine the level of user compliance with 

business rules and practices  
• a review of the Recordkeeping Policy and Procedures Manual to 

clarify or amend procedures as required, with the revised Manual 
being progressed to Executive Management for approval  

• in conjunction with the Department an Electronic Document and 
Records Management System (EDRMS) Pilot Project 
commenced in one business unit with an expectation that, 
following evaluation of the project, the EDRMS will be 
progressively rolled out across the SRO 

• continuation of a disposal program with time expired records 
being authorised for destruction, thus freeing up valuable storage 
space.  

 
Formal and comprehensive induction programs are provided to all 
new permanent and temporary staff with periodic bulletins and 
relevant internal training provided for existing staff. Both programs 
incorporate employees’ roles and recordkeeping responsibilities in 
accordance with legislative requirements and the SRO’s 
Recordkeeping Plan.  



 
 
Substantive equality 
This year the Department moved closer to achieving the 
Government’s vision for Substantive Equality in public contact 
areas. The Development and Strategy Directorate has now 
incorporated Substantive Equality statements in all of its grants 
publications, informing applicants that the Department is able to 
accommodate the needs of those who may require additional 
assistance in the grants process.  
 
A major Substantive Equality project for disabled artists has also 
been completed, incorporating the development of a new, targeted 
publication and the appointment of a dedicated staff member to 
assist applicants with their grant applications. The outcomes from 
this project are now being assessed and will help to inform future 
equality project developments. 
  
The Department has also trained all of its peer review panels in 
cultural and disability awareness with the aim of developing more 
informed panel members who are better able to connect with 
applicants and be better informed of the works they are reviewing. 
 
In the coming year, the Department will undertake a needs analysis 
for the Perth Theatre Trust to inform future developments in this 
high public access area of the portfolio. 
 
Occupational health, safety and injury management 

Commitment to OSH and injury management 
The Department is committed to ensuring that all employees are 
safe from injuries and risks to health while they are at work and 

accepts that employee health and safety is primarily a responsibility 
of management.  Specified policies, work practices, procedures and 
specific JDFs have been prepared to address the hazards and 
hazardous work processes in the workplace as part of the 
Department’s occupational safety and health (OSH) policy which is 
available on the intranet. The policy also drives the use of the OSH 
Framework which covers OSH, workers’ compensation and injury 
management and the recording and reporting of OSH within the 
Department. This Framework has been reviewed to bring it up-to-
date with all aspects of the revised Occupational Safety and Health 
Act and Public Sector Code of Practice for Occupational Safety and 
Health. Implementation of the new framework began this year, and 
includes an employee awareness strategy and manager training. 
 
Mechanisms for consultation with staff 
The formal mechanisms for consultation with employees on OSH 
and injury management matters is primarily via line management. 
Staff are made aware of this process at the staff induction and the 
intranet.  
 
Compliance with injury management requirements 
The Department engages in formal, documented programs for 
employees requiring modified duties or equipment upon returning to 
work after an injury. Information about workers’ compensation and 
injury management is provided to staff at induction as well as on the 
intranet. Return to work programs are developed and implemented 
in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981. 
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Assessment of OSH management systems 
The OSH Framework provides information about the self-evaluation 
of an OSH management system via use of the WorkSafe Plan. A 
self-evaluation of the Department’s OSH management system will 
be conducted as part of the implementation plan of the OSH 
Framework. 
 
Indicator Target 2009 – 10 Actual 
Number of fatalities  
 

Zero (0)  0 

Lost time injury/diseases 
(LTI/D) incidence rate  
 

Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on 
previous year  

0 

Lost time injury severity rate  Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on 
previous year  
 

0 

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within 28 
weeks  
 

Actual percentage 
result to be 
reported 

N/A 

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities 

Greater than or 
equal to 50% 

Not 
recorded 

 
Note: These are Department of Culture and the Arts figures only, not portfolio 
figures. 
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Opinion of the Auditor General 

 
Auditor General 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION  
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia  
 
DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS  
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010  
 
I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts.  
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 
June 2010, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and 
Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and 
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for 
the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory Notes.  
 
The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and 
efficiency.  

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key 
Performance Indicators  
 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and 
the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and 
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances; and complying with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.  
 
Summary of my Role  
 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the financial statements, controls and key performance 
indicators based on my audit. This was done by testing selected samples of 
the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further 
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. 
This document is available on the OAG website under “How We Audit”.  
 
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial 
statements and key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable 
assurance” recognises that an audit does not examine all evidence and every 
transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors or 
omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators.  



 
 
Department of Culture and the Arts  
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 
30 June 2010  
 
Audit Opinion  
 
In my opinion,  
 
(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the 
financial position of the Department of Culture and the Arts at 30 June 2010 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 
They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions;  
 
(ii) the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and 
disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance 
with legislative provisions; and  
 
(iii) the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and 
appropriate to help users assess the Department’s performance and fairly 
represent the indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2010.  

 
COLIN MURPHY  
AUDITOR GENERAL  
3 September 2010 
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Certification of Performance Indicators 
 
Culture and Arts Portfolio 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
 
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
performance of the culture and the arts portfolio, and fairly represent the performance of the portfolio for the financial year ended 30 June 
2010.  At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the performance indicators 
misleading or inaccurate. 
 

 
 
Allanah Lucas 
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY 
31 August 2010 
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
Introduction 

The Department’s KPIs have been developed in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 to evaluate the portfolio’s performance 
in achieving the Government’s Desired Outcomes and provide an 
overview of the critical and material aspects of service provision.  
The KPIs measure performance at the whole-of-portfolio level.  The 
KPIs for each of the portfolio organisations support and contribute 
to the KPIs identified for the portfolio.  The result is a consolidated 
picture of what the culture and arts portfolio is delivering and the 
impact it is having on the WA community. 
 
Portfolio Services 

Services provided by the culture and arts portfolio are listed in the 
2009-10 Budget Papers under Culture and the Arts.  Funding for 
these services is primarily provided by Parliament through the 
Department, although some organisations within the portfolio also 
receive part of their appropriation directly.  The services listed are: 
1. Arts Industry Support; 

2. Screen Production Industry Support; 

3. Venue Management Services; 

4. Art Gallery Services; 

5. Library and Information Services; 

6. Museum Services; and 

7. Government Record Keeping and Archival Services. 

Notwithstanding the clustering of services under Culture and the 
Arts in the Budget Papers, the Department is directly responsible 
for producing services (1) and (7).  The balance is the responsibility 
of ScreenWest Inc. (2), Perth Theatre Trust (3), Art Gallery of 
Western Australia (4), State Library of Western Australia (5), and 
the Western Australian Museum (6).  
 
The services reflect the total business of the portfolio.  In 
accordance with their enabling legislation, each portfolio 
organisation separately reports on their performance with respect to 
the specific services they deliver in their Annual Report. 
 
Government Goals 

The Department of Culture and the Arts contributes to the 
achievement of the Government Goal: 
 

“Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.” 
 

Government Desired Outcomes 

The Government’s Desired Outcomes for the portfolio are:  
• A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector; 

and 

• Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 
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Achievement of the portfolio’s Government Desired Outcomes will 
facilitate the achievement of a creative community that participates 
in and values culture and the arts as essential to the quality of life 
and well-being of all people throughout WA.  The Outcomes and 
KPIs describe the consequence for the community of the services 
provided by the culture and arts portfolio.  
 
Market Research 

To measure the “Sustainability” and “Accessibility” KPIs, the 
Department commissioned Patterson Market Research to conduct 
a telephone survey. A total of 404 interviews were completed from 
Wednesday 3 to Friday 26 March 2010 with 302 interviews 
completed with respondents in the Perth metropolitan area and the 
remaining 102 conducted with respondents from regional areas in 
Western Australia.  Respondents interviewed were aged 16 years 
or over and were randomly selected within each household by 
using the “closest birthday” method.  
 
Though the unweighted data was fairly well spread across the 
population, the final data was weighted to exactly reflect the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) population statistics for WA.  
The population statistics used for calculating these weights were 
based on the 2006 ABS Census data.  A sample of 404 across 
Western Australia gives a theoretical survey error of ±4.88 per cent 
at the 95 per cent level of confidence.  
 

 

Government Desired Outcome 1 

A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector. 
 
Key Effectiveness Indicators 

Creativity 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Proportion of funding applicants 
satisfied with the key elements 
of the “creative”1 funding 
programs. 

79% 74% 74% 74% 

 
Explanatory Notes – Creativity 
Approximately $36million was allocated to DCA and ScreenWest to 
fund programs within the culture and arts sector in order for the 
sector to produce “creative” outcomes.  Peer panels assess funding 
applications to ensure the proposed projects demonstrate 
significant and achievable “creative” outcomes for the people of 
WA.  Comprehensive processes are in place to monitor and acquit 
the State’s investment in “creative” outcomes delivered via the 
funding programs.  This indicator measures the satisfaction of 
funding applicants with the funding process and provides an 

                                            
 
 
1  Creativity “depends on the cultural values, preferences, and realities of residents and other 

stakeholders in a given community” (Arts, culture, creativity and communities: a framework for 
measurement: The Urban Institute 2002).  
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assessment of the culture and arts sector’s satisfaction with the 
creative outcomes being achieved through the DCA and 
ScreenWest “creative” funding programs. 
 

Sustainability 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Perceived value of culture 
and the arts (including the 
Screen Industry) to the 
Western Australian 
community. 

76% 77.5% 76% 75%

Proportion of triennially 
funded organisations 
within the culture and arts 
sector regarded as 
financially healthy. 

20% 16% 16% 20%

 
Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 
The first sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the community values the culture and arts sector, a key 
element in the sustainability of the sector.  This indicator was 
measured by the Arts Monitor community survey instrument 
administered by Patterson Market Research.  The overall index 
score for the combined culture and arts sector and the Screen 
Industry was 65 per cent. 
 
The second sustainability KPI, which is also utilised by the Australia 
Council for the Arts, provides an indication of the financial health 
and sustainability of the triennially funded organisations that make 
up a significant proportion of WA’s subsidised culture and arts 

sector.  The assessment is based upon the percentage of triennially 
funded organisations that meet all of the following indicators:  
• Reserves greater than 20 per cent of turnover; 
• Working capital greater than 2.0; and  
• Cash reserves of greater than 10 weeks worth of expenditure. 
The proportion of triennially funded organisations within the culture 
and arts sector regarded as financially healthy in 2009-10 is 16 per 
cent.  Each year a record is kept of the financial health of 25 
organisations which are funded by the Department on a triennial 
contract basis.  In the previous two years the number of 
organisations meeting the three specific criteria from their annual 
financial accounts had been four each year. 
 
In 2009-10 one organisation which had previously been financially 
quite strong, had adverse results and so did not meet the criteria for 
financial health.  This was offset by the strong financial 
performance of another organisation which for the first time moved 
into the “healthy” category. 
 

Accessibility 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Proportion of Western 
Australians that perceive 
culture and arts sector 
(including the Screen Industry) 
events to be accessible.2 

51% 60% 60% 61% 

                                            
 
 
2  This indicator was not included in the 2007/08 budget papers due to the unavailability of data at 

that time. 
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Explanatory Notes – Accessibility 
The accessibility KPI provides an assessment of the extent to which 
the WA community perceive culture and arts sector events and/or 
productions to be accessible.  This indicator was measured by the 
Arts Monitor community survey instrument administered by 
Patterson Market Research.  The overall index score for the 
combined culture and arts sector and the Screen Industry was 66 
per cent. 
 
The Arts Monitor survey indicated that 42 per cent find arts and 
cultural activities ‘easy’ for the WA public to attend or participate in 
and 21 per cent do not.  The proportion of respondents who 
perceive access to be ‘easy’ remained consistent over the past two 
years. 
 
Respondents from regional WA were significantly more likely to rate 
arts and cultural activities as ‘not easy’ for the WA public to attend 
or to participate in (28 per cent) compared to people in the Perth 
Metropolitan area (18 per cent).  This trend is consistent with 
findings in previous years. 
 
Almost four in 10 (39 per cent) believe that it is ‘not easy’ to view 
WA produced film and TV events or productions.  Just over a 
quarter (29 per cent) of all respondents think that it is easy to view 
Western Australian produced film and TV events or productions.  In 
2010 the index score is calculated to be 58 per cent which is slightly 
higher than 2009. 

Key Efficiency Indicators 
Key Efficiency Indicators 2009/10 

Target 
2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

 
Service 1 

Arts Industry Support 
Average cost per grant 
application processed 

$708 $831
 

$991 
 

$681 

 
Service 2 

Screen Production 
Industry Support 
Average cost per grant 
application processed. 

$2,885 $2,525
 

$2,853 
 

$3,050 
 

 
Service 3 

Venue Management 
Services 
Average cost per 
performance 

$23,937 $22,568
 

$22,219 
 

$16,282 

 
Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator 
The Outcome 1 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of 
resource input to the services provided.  Measurement of these 
indicators excludes the grants funding allocation that is provided to 
the Arts and Screen Production Industries. 
 
The increase in the average cost per grant application for Arts 
Industry Support measured against the 2009/10 targeted cost is 
due to the general increase in service costs following the significant 
planning undertaken during the year for delivery of arts and cultural 
programs whilst the number of grants approved was less than 
predicted. 
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Government Desired Outcome 2 

Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary collections 
are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 
 
Key Effectiveness Indicators 

Preservation 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Extent to which Western 
Australia’s natural, cultural and 
documentary collections, that 
require preservation, are 
preserved. 

 
83% 80% 83% 83%

 
Explanatory Notes – Preservation 
The preservation KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the State’s art, museum, heritage and archives collections 
are preserved.  Preservation of the entire collection is not required, 
therefore this measure only relates to that part of the collection that 
is determined by the portfolio organisations as requiring 
preservation.  The indicator measures the extent to which the 
portfolio’s collection preservation outcomes have been met. 
 
 
 
 

Accessibility 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

The number of accesses to 
Western Australia’s natural, 
cultural and documentary 
collections per capita3. 

Accesses 
Per Capita
2.224 

Accesses 
Per Capita
2.183 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
2.049 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
2.534 

Percentage of clients satisfied 
with the services associated 
with accessing Western 
Australia’s natural, cultural and 
documentary collections. 

88% 86% 87% 86% 

Number of Accesses: 4,823,000 4,955,744 4,518,721 5,534,671 

 
Explanatory Notes – Accessibility Per Capita 
The accessibility KPIs provide the number of accesses and the 
number of accesses per capita to the State’s art, museum, heritage 
and archives collections and the level of satisfaction associated 
with the various aspects of service delivery associated with 
accessing the State’s collections.  The number of accesses is 
based on Museum, Art Gallery, State Library and State Records 
Office visitor attendance figures, and accesses via Internet User 
Sessions.  Accesses for the State Library include the number of 
material exchanges between the State Library and Local 
Government Libraries.   
 

                                            
 
 
3  WA Population (per capita) based on ABS Data Table 3101.1 (WA) - 2007/08 = 2,112.9; 2008/09 = 

2,163.2 and 2009/10 = 2,259.5. 
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Sustainability4 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Value of collection renewal, 
content development, 
expansion and/or maintaining 
the physical integrity of the 
collection as a proportion of 
collection value. 

6% 5% 5% 6%

 
Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 
The sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the portfolio’s 
capacity to annually renew a portion of the collection, develop 
content, expand and/or maintain the physical integrity of the State’s 
art, museum, heritage and archives collections. Collection renewal, 
content development, expansion and/or maintaining the physical 
integrity are essential to the sustainability of the collections. 
 
 

                                            
 
 
4. The SRO collection has not been valued and therefore is not included in this KPI.  

 

Key Efficiency Indicators 

Key Efficiency Indicator 2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2007/08 
Actual 

Service 4 

Art Gallery Services 
Average cost of Art 
Gallery services per Art 
Gallery access. 

$35 $29 $37 $23 

Library and Information 
Services 
Average cost of State 
Library services per 
State Library 
access/client 
interaction. 

$11 $11 $15 $10 

Service 5 

Average cost of State 
Library services per 
new collection item. 

$84 $69 $64 $64 

Service 6 

Museum Services 
Average cost of 
Museum services per 
Museum access. 

$30 $41 $40 $30 

Government 
Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 
Average cost of State 
Records Office (SRO) 
services per access to 
the State archives 
collection. 

$8 $9 $16 $8 

Service 7 

Average cost of SRO 
services per regulatory 
service. 

$408 $474 $355 $450 
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Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator 
The Outcome 2 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of 
resource input to the services provided. 
 
The average cost of WA Museum services is higher than budgeted 
due to a general increase in service costs and a corresponding 
reduction in the number of accesses over the year. 
 
The average cost of regulatory services provided by the SRO was 
approximately 16 per cent higher than estimated due to a general 
increase in service costs. 
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Certification of Financial Statements 
 
Culture and the Arts Portfolio for the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Culture and the Arts have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 
June 2010 and the financial position as at 30 June 2010. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate. 
. 

    
 
Allanah Lucas Tony Loiacono 
DIRECTOR GENERAL CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
31 August 2010 31 August 2010 
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Financial Statements 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2010 
  

     
 Note 2010 2009
  $000 $000
COST OF SERVICES  
  
Expenses  
Employee benefits expense 5 48,407 49,186
Supplies and services 6 4,889 5,494
Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 1,011 949
Accommodation expenses 8 1,973 2,145
Grants and subsidies 9 31,415 28,906
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 14 - 1
Other expenses  10 296 371

Total cost of services  87,991  87,052
  
Income  
  
Revenue  
User fees and charges 11 780 544
Commonwealth grants and contributions 12 166 81
Other revenue 13 1,324 1,126

Total revenue  2,270  1,751
  
Total income other than income from State 
Government  2,270  1,751

NET COST OF SERVICES  85,721  85,301

 Note 2010  2009 
  $000  $000 
Income from State Government      
Service appropriation 15  89,411  90,435 
Assets transferred  (68)  (147) 
Resources received free of charge  132  142 

Total income from State Government  89,475   90,430 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  3,754   5,129 
     
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 26 4,226  17,113 

Total other comprehensive income  4,226   17,113 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD  7,980   22,242 

     
Refer to the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2010 
  

     
     
 Note 2010 2009
  $000 $000
ASSETS  
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 27 20,002 63,686
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 82 154
Receivables 17 5,467 1,007
Amounts receivable for services 18 3,317 1,157
Other current assets 19 158 6

Total Current Assets  29,026  66,010

  
Non-Current Assets  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 853 698
Receivables 17 230 215
Amounts receivable for services 18 - 2,526
Property, plant and equipment 20 145,993 103,277
Intangible assets 21 19 10

Total Non-Current Assets  147,095  106,726

TOTAL ASSETS  176,121  172,736

     
 
 
 
     

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities     
Payables 23 26,037  29,803 
Provisions 24 7,649  6,141 
Other current liabilities 25 285  1 

Total Current Liabilities  33,971   35,945 

    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Provisions 24 3,534  3,256 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  3,534   3,256 

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  37,505   39,201 

NET ASSETS  138,616   133,535 

    
EQUITY 26   
Contributed equity  100,231  103,130 
Reserves  41,737  37,511 
Accumulated (deficit)  (3,352)  (7,106) 

TOTAL EQUITY  138,616   133,535 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  176,121  172,736 
Refer to the 'Schedule of Assets and 
Liabilities by Service'.      
     
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2010 

  Contributed Accumulated 
 Note Equity Reserves (deficit) Total Equity 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Balance at 1 July 2008 26 66,903 20,398 (12,235) 75,066 
Total comprehensive income for the year  - 17,113 5,129 22,242 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:   
 Capital appropriations  36,227 - - 36,227 
 Other contributions by owners  - - - - 
 Distributions to owners  - - - - 

Total    36,227 - - 36,227 

Balance at 30 June 2009  103,130 37,511 (7,106) 133,535 

   
Balance at 1 July 2009  103,130 37,511 (7,106) 133,535 
Total comprehensive income for the year  4,226 3,754 7,980 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:   
 Capital appropriations  (2,899) - - (2,899) 
 Other contributions by owners - - - -

- - - -
 

 Distributions to owners  

Total   (2,899) - - (2,899) 

Balance at 30 June 2010  100,231 41,737 (3,352) 138,616 

 
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2010 

 Note 2010 2009
  $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT  
Service appropriation  85,139 88,553
Capital contributions  (2,899) 36,227
Holding account drawdowns  4,638 1,233

Net cash provided by State Government  86,878  126,013

  
Utilised as follows:  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES  
Payments  
Employee benefits  (42,540) (43,673)
Supplies and services  (4,294) (8,775)
Accommodation  (1,973) (2,060)
Grants and subsidies  (35,018) (24,292)
GST payments on purchases  (7,362) (4,991)
GST payments to taxation authority  (162) (162)
Other payments  (4,856) (8,982)
  
Receipts  
User charges and fees  780 544
Commonwealth grants and contributions  166 81
GST receipts on sales  (238) 281
GST receipts from taxation authority  7,307 5,088

Other receipts  (2,711)  1,410 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 27 (90,901)   (85,531) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (39,578)  (20,804) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (39,578)   (20,804) 

    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  (43,601)  19,678 
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of period  64,538  44,860 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF PERIOD 27 20,937   64,538 

 
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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- 27 - 5 - (33) - -
- 3 - - - (2) - 1

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 

For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 Arts Industry Support Recordkeeping and 

Archival Services 
Services provided to 

external agencies 
Total 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
COST OF SERVICES  
Expenses  
Employee benefits expenses 4,917 4,274 1,957 2,086 41,533 43,000 48,407 49,359 
Supplies and services 1,727 2,305 230 214 2,932 2,887 4,889 5,406 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 158 146 65 73 788 730 1,011 949 
Accommodation expenses 203 303 41 61 1,729 1,696 1,973 2,060 
Grants and subsidies 26,917 23,405 28 7 4,470 5,494 31,415 28,906 
Appropriations to agencies - 1,200 - 240 - (1,440) - - 
Cost of sales  
Loss on disposal of assets  
Other expenses 119 269 25 54 152 48 296 371 
Total cost of services 34,041 31,932 2,346 2,740 51,604 52,380 87,991 87,052 
  
Income  
User charges and fees  40 9 83 57 657 478 780 544 
Sale of Goods - 59 11 35 (11) (94) - - 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 110 33 2 2 54 46 166 81 
Other revenue 476 229 91 77 757 820 1,324 1,126 
Total income other than income from 
State Government 626 330 187 171 1,457 1,250 2,270 1,751 
NET COST OF SERVICES 33,415 32 2,159 2,569 50,147 51,130 85,721 85,301 



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 
 

66 

 Arts Industry Support Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

Services provided to 
external agencies 

Total 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
  
Income from State Government  
Service Appropriation 12,641 13,724 4,138 4,318 72,659 72,392 89,411 90,435 
Grants and subsidies from State 
Government - 71 - 14 - (85) - - 
Assets assumed (transferred) (10) (22) (2) (4) (56) (121) (68) (147) 
Resources received free of charge 20 21 4 4 108 117 132 142 
Total income from State Government 12,624 14 4,140 4,332 72,711 72,303 89,475 90,430 
SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (20,791) (17,807) 1,981 1,763 22,564 21,173 3,754 5,129 
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service 

As at 30 June 2010 

 Arts Industry Support Recordkeeping and Archival 
Services 

Services provided to 
external agencies 

Total 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
   

Assets   

Current Assets 4,437 9,922 1,210 2,353 23,379 53,735 29,026 66,010 

Non-Current Assets 21,978 15,931 6,189 5,003 118,928 85,792 147,095 106,726 

Total assets 26,415 25,853 7,399 7,356 142,307 139,527 176,121 172,736 

   

Liabilities   

Current Liabilities 5,228 5,463 1,046 1,092 27,697 29,390 33,971 35,945 

Non-Current Liabilities 530 488 106 98 2,898 2,670 3,534 3,256 
Total Liabilities 5,758 5,951 1,152 1,190 30,595 32,060 37,505 39,201 
   
NET ASSETS 20,657 19,902 6,247 6,166 111,712 107,467 138,616 133,535 

   

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Statements  

For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 

 

2010
Estimate

$'000

2010
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000  

2010
Actual
$’000

2009
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000

 
DELIVERY OF SERVICES 
Item 84 Net amount appropriated to 
deliver services 68,349 75,186 6,837 75,186 77,231 (2,045)

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes: 
 - Lotteries Commission Act 1990 12,648 13,500 852 13,500 12,500 1,000
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 725 725 0 725 704 21

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services 81,722 89,411 7,689  89,411 90,435 (1,024)

CAPITAL 
Item 158 Capital appropriations 15,553 1,541 (14,012) 1,541 36,227 (34,686)
 

 15,553 1,541 (14,012)  1,541 36,227 (34,686)

        
GRAND TOTAL 97,275 90,952 (6,323)  90,952 126,662 (35,710)
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2010
Estimate

$'000

2010
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000  

2010
Actual
$’000

2009
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000

Details of Expenses by Service               
Arts Industry Support 33,452 39,496 6,044 39,496 31,932 7,564
Recordkeeping and Archival Services 2,085 2,715 630 2,715 2,740 (25)
Services provided to external 
agencies 46,185 45,780 (405) 45,780 52,380 (6,600)

  Total Cost of Services 81,722 87,991 6,269  87,991 87,052 939
  Less total income 0 (2,270) (2,270)  (2,270) (1,751) (519)

  Net Cost of Services 81,722 85,721 3,999 85,721 85,301 420
  Adjustments 0 3,690 3,690 3,690 5,134 (1,444)

  
Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services 81,722 89,411 7,689  89,411 90,435 (1,024)

 
  Capital Expenditure 

  
Purchase of non-current 
physical assets 15,553 1,541 (14,012) 1,541 36,227 (34,686)

  
Capital Contribution 
(appropriation) 15,553 1,541 (14,012)  1,541 36,227 (34,686)

 
Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. 
 
Other external agencies comprise the Art Gallery of WA, The Library Board of WA,  Western Australian Museum and Perth Theatre Trust whose 
funding is provided through direct appropriation and services received free of charge from the Department of Culture and the Arts. 
 
Note 32 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2010 and between the actual 
results for 2009 and 2010. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the year ending 30 June 2010 
Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards 
 
General  
 
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2010 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' refers to 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board (AASB). 
 
The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised 
Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 
 
Early adoption of standards 
 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended 
but not operative have been early adopted by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010. 
 

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
(a) General statement 
 
The financial statements constitute general purpose financial 
statements that have been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s 
instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 
 
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are 
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements 
and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board. 
 
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 
financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.     
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(b) Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the 
revaluation of land and buildings which have been measured at fair 
value. 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).  
 
The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at 
note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting 
policies’. 
 
(c) Reporting entity 
 
The reporting entity comprises the Department of Culture and the Arts.  
The Department has no related bodies. 
 
Mission 
 
The Department’s mission is to provide leadership, support and 
services to ensure that Western Australians have easy and affordable 
access to a diverse range of innovative ideas, knowledge and cultural 
experiences. 

 
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary 
appropriations. The Department is supplemented by fees received for 
the provision of services that are charged out on a full cost recovery 
basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. 
The financial statements encompass all funds through which the 
Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 
 
Services 
 
The Department provides the following services: 
 
Service 1: Arts Industry Support 
To provide an integrated and unifying means of delivering policy and 
programs that will assist in the development of creative people, 
communities, economies and environments for the public of Western 
Australia. 
 
Service 2: Recordkeeping and Archival Services 
The State Records Office delivers records management and archival 
services to State and Local Government agencies and the general 
public. 
 
Service 3: Services to external agencies 
 
Ensures that corporate services are delivered to agencies within the 
Culture and Arts portfolio. 
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(d) Contributed equity 
 
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as 
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before 
such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 
955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity. 
 
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated 
as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary 
and non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 26 ‘Equity’. 
 
(e) Income 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable.  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows: 
 
Sale of goods 
 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control 
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 
 

Provision of services 
 
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 
 
Interest 
 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 
 
Service Appropriations 
 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value 
in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated 
funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time 
those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 
'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at Treasury. 
 
The Department receives funding from the Lotteries Commission 
under the provisions of Section 22 of the Lotteries Commission Act 
(1990).  This provides for receipts based on five per cent of the net 
lotteries and games subscriptions received by the Lotteries 
Commission.  Accordingly all funds have been received as at 30 June. 
This amount is recognised as Service Appropriations in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Net Appropriation Determination 
 
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed 
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department.  In accordance with the determination specified in the 
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2009-2010 Budget Statements, the Department retained $2.27 million 
in 2010 ($1.751 million in 2009) from the following: 
 

• proceeds from fees and charges; 
• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; 

and 
• other departmental revenue. 

 
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains 
control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 
cash is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners 
are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated. 
 
Gains 
 
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a 
net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current 
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 
 
(f) Property, plant and equipment  
 
Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 

(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income [other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total]. 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at 
cost. 
 
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is 
used the for the measurement of land and buildings and the cost 
model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings 
are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) 
and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant 
and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued 
amount. 
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Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally 
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. 
Where the fair value of buildings is determined on using the 
depreciated replacement cost, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 
 
Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by 
the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in 
determining estimated useful life. Professional judgment by the valuer 
is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use assets. 
 
Derecognition 
 
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item or property, plant and 
equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in 
the asset revaluation surplus. 
 

Asset revaluation surplus 
 
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in 
'note 20. Property, plant and equipment'. 
 
Depreciation 
 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits. 
 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated 
using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset 
are: 
 
Buildings 40 years 
Leasehold improvements 40 years 
Plant and equipment 5 to 10 Years 
Computer hardware and software (a) 4 years 
Furniture and fittings 10 years 
Collections 0 to100 years 
 
(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 
 
Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, 
plant and equipment, which are anticipated to have very long and 
indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material 
sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no 
depreciation has been recognised. 
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(g) Intangible assets 
 
Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
 
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally 
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. 
The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their 
useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially 
recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, 
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated 
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the 
straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually.  All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life 
and zero residual value.  
 
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assets are: 
 
Software(a) 3 to 5 years 
 
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware. 
 

Licences 
 
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Computer Software 
 
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as 
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of 
the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
 
Website costs 
 
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred 
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when 
they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to 
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a web site, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are 
expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a web site, to the 
extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can 
be reliably measured, are capitalised. 
 
(h) Impairment of assets 
 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any 
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
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recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement 
cost. 
 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an 
asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and 
to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not 
yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where 
fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is 
measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
 

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for 
sale 
 
All land holdings are Crown land vested in the Department by the 
Government. The Department for Regional Development and Land is 
the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The Department 
transfers Crown land and any attaching buildings to DPI when the land 
becomes available for sale. 
 
(j) Leases 
 
The Department holds operating leases for office accommodation. 
Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease 
term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties. 
 
(k) Financial instruments 
 
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial 
instrument: 

• Loans and receivables; and 
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
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Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following 
classes: 

• Financial Assets 
o Cash and cash equivalents 
o Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
o Receivables  
o Amounts Receivable for Services 

• Financial Liabilities 
o Payables 

 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair 
value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 
 
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect 
of discounting is not material. 
 
(l) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise 
cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(m) Accrued salaries 
 
Accrued salaries [refer to note 23 ‘Payables’] represent the amount 
due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay date 
for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the 
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight 
of the financial year end. The Department of Culture and the Arts 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to 
its net fair value. 
 
The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to Note 16 ‘Restricted 
cash and cash equivalents’] consists of amounts paid annually into a 
suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet 
the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days 
occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 
 
(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 
 
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises 
the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The appropriations 
are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. 
 
(o) Receivables 
 
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
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allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department 
will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
(p) Payables 
 
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to 
fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 
 
(q) Provisions 
 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are 
recognised where there is a present legal  or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period. 
 
Provisions - Employee Benefits 
 
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be 
settled more than 12 months after the reporting period is measured at 
the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the end of reporting period. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. 
 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
 
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. 
 
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has 
completed one year of service. An actuarial assessment of long 
service leave undertaken by PriceWaterhouse at 30 June 2009 
determined that the liability measured using the short-hand method 
was not materially different from the liability measured using the 
present value of expected future payments. 
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Superannuation 
 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in 
accordance with legislative requirements administers public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia. 
 
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
pension scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
also closed to new members.  
 
The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benefits due to members who-transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the 
Department to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS is 
a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all 
liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS obligations. 
 
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who are 
not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes became non-
contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 
become members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of 
these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Department makes 
concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish 

the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and 
GESBS. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension 
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share. 
 
Provisions - other 
 
Employment On-Costs 
 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, 
are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities 
and expenses when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee 
benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-
costs provision’. 
 
(r) Superannuation expense 
 
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, and the GESBS. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into 
the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 
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The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB 
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation 
liability. 
 
(s) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 
 
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be 
reliably measured are recognised as income and as assets or 
expenses as appropriate, at fair value. 
 
(t) Comparative figures 
 
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. 
 
Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly. 
 
Operating lease commitment 
 
The Department has entered into a commercial lease for office 
accommodation and it has determined that the lessor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 
 
Note 4. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
 
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
 
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009  that impacted on the Department: 
 
AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007). This 
Standard has been revised and introduces a number of terminology 
changes as well as changes to the structure of the Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Comprehensive Income. It is 
now a requirement that owner changes in equity be presented 
separately from non-owner changes in equity. There is no financial 
impact resulting from the application of this revised Standard. 
 
AASB 2007-10 
Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 101. This Standard changes the term 'general purpose financial 
report' to 'general purpose financial statements', where appropriate in 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Framework to better align 
with IFRS terminology. There is no financial impact resulting from the 
application of this Standard. 
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AASB 2008-13 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
Interpretation 17 - Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners [AASB 
5 & AASB 110]. This Standard amends AASB 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations in respect of the 
classification, presentation and measurement if non-current assets 
held for distribution to owners in their capacity as owners. This may 
impact on the presentation and classification of Crown land held by 
the Department where the Crown land is to be sold by the Department 
of Regional Development and Lands (formerly Department for 
Planning and Infrastructure). The Department does not expect any 
financial impact when the Standard is first applied prospectively. 
 
AASB 2009-2 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 
1023 & AASB 1038. This Standard amends AASB 7 and will require 
enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements and liquidity risk 
with respect to financial instruments. There is no financial impact 
resulting from the application of this Standard. 
 
Voluntary changes in accounting policy 
 
The Department did make any voluntary changes to its Accounting 
Policy in 2009/10 
 
 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet 
operative 
 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. 
Consequently, the Department has not applied early the following 
Australian Accounting Standards  that have been issued and that may 
impact the Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to 
apply these Australian Accounting Standards  from their application 
date: 
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning on/after 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12].  

1 January 2013 

 

The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of categories of financial assets. The 
Department does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The disclosure of 
categories of financial assets in the notes will change. 

 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 
 
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting 
requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements. 
 
The Standard does not have any financial impact in the Department. However it may affect disclosures in the 
financial statements of the Department if the reduced disclosure requirements apply. DTF has not yet 
determined the application of the potential impact of the new Standard for agencies. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
 
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to 
introduce reduced disclosure requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain types of 
entities. 
 
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the Department. However this Standard may 
reduce some note disclosures in financial statements of the Department. DTF has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies. 

1 July 2013 
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Note 5. Employee benefits expense 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Wages and salaries (a) 37,338 39,162
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 4,211 3,989
Long service leave (c) 1,756 2,058
Annual leave (c) 4,775 3,456
Other related expenses 327 521
 48,407 49,186

 
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe 
benefits tax component.  
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super 
Scheme  (contributions paid). 
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 
 
Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are 
included at note 10 'Other expenses'. The employment on-costs 
liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'. 
 

Note 6. Supplies and services 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Catering 28 85 
Communications 252 241 
Consumables 199 149 
Contracts 113 332 
Equipment 74 70 
Freight 59 71 
Insurance & licences 288 257 
Leases 98 256 
Legal 26 51 
Management fees 153 202 
Professional fees 2,926 2,373 
Repairs & maintenance 112 201 
Temporary Personnel 279 652 
Travel 219 344 
Other  63 210 
 4,889 5,494 
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Note 7. Depreciation and amortisation expense 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Depreciation 
Buildings 922 836
Leasehold improvements 7 6
Plant, equipment, computer hardware and 
software 

8 86

Total depreciation 1,007 928
 
Amortisation 
Intangible Assets 4 21
Total amortisation 4 21
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,011 949

 
Note 8. Accommodation expenses 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Cleaning 57 55
Electricity, gas and water 76 36
Facilities management and accommodation 353 349
Lease Rentals 1,061 1,042
Repairs and maintenance 426 663
 1,973 2,145

 

Note 9. Grants and subsidies 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Recurrent   
Arts Agency and Panels 24,879 23,268 
ScreenWest 3,700 3,600 
Other 2,836 2,038 
 31,415 28,906 

 
Note 10. Other expenses 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Employment on-costs    
(a) (see note 5 'Employee benefits expense') 116 128 
Donations and Prizes 44 116 
Other (b) 136 127 
 296 371 

 
(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The 
on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave 
liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as 
part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in 
employment on-costs. 
(b) Includes doubtful debts expense and audit fee. Refer also to  note 35. 
Remuneration of auditor. 
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Note 11. User charges and fee 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Rent 233 191
Recoup of costs 547 353
 780 544

 
Note 12. Commonwealth grants and contributions 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Recurrent 166 81 

Included in the recurrent grants for 2009-10 is a grant from the 
Australia Council. The terms of the grant are that the funding will only 
be used in relation to the Playwright Development Program (PDP) and 
the Dramaturge Skills Development Program (DSDP). The grant has 
been recognised in its entirety upon receipt as the only condition set 
by the grantor relates to how the grant can be expended and there are 
no performance measures in terms of service delivery.  
 
Note 13. Other revenue 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Recoup of prior year expenses 19 118
Recoups of salaries and worker's compensation 
costs 

614 567

Sponsorship - 32
Other 691 409
 1,324 1,126
 

Note 14. Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets   
Plant and Equipment - 3 
Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets   
Plant and Equipment - (2) 
   
Net loss - 1 

 
Note 15. Income from state government 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Appropriation revenue received during the year:   
Service appropriations (a) 89,411 90,435 
 89,411 90,435 

 
The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other state 
government agencies during the financial year: (b) 
 
 - plant and equipment (68) (147) 
Total assets (transferred) (68) (147) 

 
Resources received free of charge (c) 
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies: 
 
- Department of Education and Training - staff secondments 
(part year) 

- 9 

- Department of Treasury and Finance - integrated procurement 
services 

107 86 

- State Solicitor's Office - legal services 
 

25 47 
132 142 

 89,475 90,430 
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(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services 
delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
(asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for 
the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 
(b) Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are 
reported as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State Government. 
Non discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net assets (ie. restructuring of 
administrative arrangements) have been classified as Contributions by owners 
(CBOs) under TI 955 and taken directly to equity. 
(c) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, 
the Department recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or 
the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and which would have 
been purchased if they were not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised 
as assets or expenses, as applicable. Where the contribution of assets or services 
are in the nature of contributions by owners, the Department makes the adjustment 
direct to equity. 
 
Note 16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Current 
Commonwealth funds - service delivery arrangement 
(a) 

82 154

 82 154
Non-current 
Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 853 698
 853 698

 
(a) The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government 
have a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of services to the Indian 
Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands).  
The Commonwealth Government recoups the Department the costs associated with 
these services (refer to note 40 'Service Delivery Arrangement - Commonwealth 
Grant'). 

(b) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of 
meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 
 
Note 17. Receivables 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
Current   
Trade Debtors 4,799 400 
Allowance for doubtful debts (12) (17) 
GST receivable 680 624 
Total current 5,467 1,007 
Non current   
Receivables 230 215 
Total non current 230 215 
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 
receivables: 

  

Balance at start of year 17 115 
Doubtful debts expense  recognised in the income statement (5) - 
Amount recovered during the year - (98) 
Balance at the end of year 12 17 
 
Note 18. Amounts receivable for services 
 
 2010 2009 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Current 3,317 1,157 
Non-current - 2,526 
 3,317 3,683 
 
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that 
it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.  
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Note 19. Other assets 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Current 
Prepayments 155 5
Accrued Income 3 1
Total current 158 6

 
Note 20. Property, plant and equipment 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Land 
At fair value (a) 31,570 32,060
Accumulated Impairment Losses - -
 31,570 32,060
Buildings 
At fair value (a) 34,813 31,047
At cost 26 26
Works in progress 77,603 38,194
Accumulated depreciation (16) (10)
Accumulated impairment losses - -
 112,426 69,257
 
Leasehold improvements 
At cost 1,200 1,200
Accumulated depreciation (982) (975)
Accumulated impairment losses - -
 218 225

   
Plant and equipment   
At cost 716 628 
Accumulated depreciation (531) (466) 
Accumulated impairment losses - - 
 185 162 
Furniture and fittings   
At cost 62 62 
Accumulated depreciation (15) (9) 
Accumulated impairment losses - - 
 47 53 
   
Collections   
At fair value 1,477 1,477 
Accumulated Depreciation (143) (136) 
Accumulated impairment losses - - 
 1,334 1341 
   
Works of art   
At fair value 179 - 
At cost 34 179 
Accumulated impairment losses - - 
 213 179 
 145,993 103,277 
(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2009 by the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed 
during the year ended 30 June 2010 and recognised at 30 June 2010. In 
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values 
for land: $31,507,000 and buildings: $112,426,000. For the remaining balance, fair 
value of land and buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement 
cost. See note 2(f) 'Property, plant and equipment'. 
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The Department credits the accumulated depreciation to the asset account prior to revaluation and restates the net amount to the revalued amount. 
 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below. 
 

 Land Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant, equipment, computer 

hardware & software
Furniture and 

Fittings
Works of Art 

and Collections  Total 
2010 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000   $000 
    
Carrying amount at start of year 32,060 69,257 225 162 53 1,520  103,277 
Additions - 39,409 - 88 - 34  39,531 
Disposals - - - - - -  - 
Revaluations (490) 4,682 - - - -  4,192 
Transfers (a) - - - - - -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation - (922) (7) (65) (6) (7)  (1,007) 
Carrying amount at end of year 31,570 112,426 218 185 47 1,547   145,993 

 

 Land Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant, equipment, computer 

hardware & software
Furniture and 

Fittings
Works of Art 

and Collections  Total 
2009 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000   $000 
     
Carrying amount at start of year 17,855 46,655 231 169 7 1,520  66,437 
Additions - 20,530 - 78 50 -  20,658 
Disposals - - - (3) - -  (3) 
Revaluations 14,205 2,908 - - - -  17,113 
Transfers(a) - - - - - -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation - (836) (6) (82) (4) -  (928) 
Carrying amount at end of 
year 32,060 69,257 225 162 53 1,520   103,277 

(a) The Department of Regional Development and Land (DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to DPI for sale and the Department 
accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner (DTO). 
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Note 21. Intangible assets 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Computer software 
At cost 367 354
Accumulated amortisation (348) (344)
Accumulated impairment losses - -
 19  10
 
Reconciliation 
Carrying amount at start of year 10 32
Additions/(Disposals) 13 -
Transfers - -
Amortisation expense (4) (22)
Carrying amount at end of year 19  10

 
Note 22. Impairment of assets 
 
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2010. 
 
The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at balance sheet 
date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 
 
All surplus assets at 30 June 2010 have either been classified as 
assets held for sale or written-off. 
 

Note 23. Payables 
 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Current   
Trade payables 514  940 
Grants payable 24,015  27,618 
Accrued Expenses 691  298 
Accrued Salaries 750  697 
Accrued Superannuation 67  250 

Total Current 26,037   29,803 
 
Grants payable is recognised where contracts have been entered into 
with Departmental clients prior to June 30, but not paid. 
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Note 24. Provisions 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Current 
Employee benefits provision 
Annual leave (a) 3,391 2,346

Long service leave (b) 3,594  3,274
 6,985  5,620
 
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs (c) 664 521
 7,649  6,141
Non-current 
Employee benefits provision 
Long service leave (b) 3,151 3,004
 
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs (c) 383 252
 3,534  3,256

 
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period 2,051 1,708
More than 12 months after the reporting period 1,340 834
 3,391  2,542

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 

period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows: 
 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period 2,469  2,082 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 4,276  4,541 
 6,745   6,623 

 
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the 
payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The 
provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 
10 ‘Other expenses’.' 
 
Movement in Other Provisions 
 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than 
employee benefits, are set out below: 
 
Employment on-cost provision    
Carrying amount at start of year 773  624 
Additional provisions recognised 274  149 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits -  - 
Unwinding of the discount -  - 
Carrying amount at end of year 1,047   773 
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Note 25. Other liabilities 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Current 

Grant Received in advance 280 -
Unclaimed monies 2 1

3 -Other 
Total Current 285  1

 
Note 26. Equity 
 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The 
Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. 
The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets. 
 
Contributed equity 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000

Balance at start of period 103,130 66,903

Contributions by owners 
Capital appropriation (a)  1,541 36,227

Total contribution by owners 1,541  36,227
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Distributions to owners 

Transfer of assets to other agencies 
Book Purchase Program transferred to the State 
Library of Western Australia (4,355)  - 
Information Technology transfer to the State 
Library of Western Australia (85)  - 

Total distributions to owners (4,440)   - 
   
Balance at end of period 100,231   103,130 

  
Reserves 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Asset revaluation surplus   
Balance at start of year 37,511  20,398 
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):   
Land (490)  14,205 
Buildings 4,682  2,908 
Art Collection 34  - 
Balance at end of year 41,737   37,511 

 
Accumulated (deficit) 
 
Balance at start of year (7,106)  (12,235) 
Result for the period 3,754  5,129 
Balance at end of year (3,352)   (7,106) 
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Note 27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of 
Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows: 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 20,002 63,686
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to 
note 16 Restricted cash and cash equivalents) 935 852

 20,937  64,538
 
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided 
by/(used in) operating activities 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Net cost of services (85,721) (85,301)

Non-cash items: 
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 7) 1,011 949
Resources received free of charge (note 15) 132 142
Net loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 
(note 14) - 1

(Increase)/decrease in assets: 
Current receivables (4,020) (100)
Other current assets (152) 20
Non current receivables (15) -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities: 

Current payables (3,751)  (2,210) 
Current provisions 1,508  703 
Non-current provisions 278  365 
Other Current Liabilities 284  (768) 

 
Net GST receipts/(payments) (a) (455)  668 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities (90,901)   (85,531) 

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, ie cash transactions 
 
At the reporting period, the Department had fully drawn on all 
financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial 
statements. 
 
Note 28. Resources provided free of charge 
 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free 
of charge.  The amounts shown represent the payment of salaries and 
superannuation paid by the Department on behalf of the following agencies: 
 Art Gallery of WA 3,778  3,714 
 Library and Information Services of WA 12,766  14,014 
 Perth Theatre Trust 2,542  2,003 
 ScreenWest 907  1,077 
 Western Australian Museum 14,843  17,455 
 34,836   38,263 
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Note 29. Commitments 
 
Lease Commitments 
 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for 
at the end of the reporting period  but not 
recognised in the financial statements are payable 
as follows:    
Within 1 year 1,170 1,149 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 706 1,861 
 1,876  3,010 
Representing: 
Cancellable operating leases - -
Non-cancellable operating leases 1,876 3,010
 1,876  3,010

 
Non cancellable operating lease commitments 
 2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Commitments for minimum lease payments are 
payable as follows: 
Within 1 year 1,170 1,149 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 706 1,861 
 1,876  3,010 

 
The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a five year term, 
with rent payable monthly in advance.  Contingent accommodation 
provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall be increased by annually alternating 5% and market 
with a no decrease provision. DCA has no official commitment to its 
accommodation lease commitment after 31 January 2012. 

 
Other expenditure commitments 
 2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Grant commitments contracted for at the end of 
the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, are payable as follows. 4,318  17,079 
Within 1 year 4,318   17,079 

These commitments are all inclusive of GST. 
 
Note 30. Contingent liabilities 
 
In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there is 
the following contingent liability: 
 
Litigation in progress 
 
A claim by an employee for the initial value of $70,000 in relation to 
service being provided as 'an out of hours contact'. Conflicting 
timelines are currently being debated, with the Department 
recommending that the final value of the liability be greatly reduced. 
 
 
Note 31. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 
 
The Department is unaware of any event occurring after balance 
sheet date that would materially affect the financial statements. 
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Note 32. Explanatory statement 
 
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income 
and expense as presented in the financial statement titled ‘Summary 
of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are 
shown below.  Significant variations are considered to be those 
greater than 10% or $1 million. 
 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 
 
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2010 
 

2010 
Estimate 

2010 
Actual  Variance 

 $'000 $'000   $'000 
Appropriation to deliver services 81,722 89,411  (7,689) 

 
 
Several reasons make up the discrepancy between estimated and 
actual as Lotterywest funding increased significantly as year end 
approached, the WA Ballet grant was not announced until late in the 
2009-10 year, WASO relocation monies were paid back to DCA 
following DCA's funding of the State Library's Book Purchase Program 
in 2008-2009 and voluntary severance payments not incorporated into 
the original budget were received in the latter part of the year. 
 
Significant variances between actual results for 2009 and 2010 
 

2010 2009  Variance 
 $'000 $'000  $'000 
Arts Industry Support 39,496 31,932  (7,564) 

 

Several projects relating to the 'Arts Funding Package' that were slow 
in being enacted in 2008-2009 have been taken up and are moving 
forward in 2009-2010. 
 
Significant variances between actuals for 2009 and 2010 - Total 
appropriation provided to deliver services: 
 

2010 2009  Variance 
 $'000 $'000   $'000 
Total appropriation provided to deliver 
services for the year 89,411 90,435  (1,024) 
Total Income 2,270 1,751  519 

 
Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year 
Funding for the package formerly known as 'Ignite' reduced as 
opposed to the previous year. Coupled with this is a drop-off in the 
funding received for Capital projects that are coming towards an end. 
 
Total Income 
The increase in revenue received this year is due to recoveries of 
leave entitlements for employees moving into the Department. Also 
recoups of expenses, initially incurred by the Department were 
received from other portfolio agencies. 
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Service Expenditure 
 
Significant variances between actual results for 2009 and 2010 
 

2010 2009 Variance  
 $'000 $'000 $'000  
Arts Industry Support 39,496 31,932 7,564 

(a)

Services provided to external 
agencies 45,780 52,380 (6,600) 

(b)

 
 
(a)  The variance in Arts Industry Support expenditure is due to a 
increase in grant funding paid to the various grants recipients. This 
includes the Arts Funding package which has permitted several one-
off several projects to be initiated. 
 
(b)  A large contributor to this decrease is the reduction in Grants and 
Subsidies paid out to agencies. This, combined with a reduction in the 
Employee Benefits which is a response by the Department in 
discontinuing contracted staff based upon Treasury instructions issued 
to all Government agencies. 
 
Capital contribution 
 
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2010 
 

2010 2010 Variance  
Estimate Actual   

 $'000 $'000 $'000  
Capital Contribution 15,553 1,541 14,012 

(a) 
  

(a)  At the beginning of the 2009-10 financial period, the Department 
had a large cash holding as evidenced in the Statement of Financial 
Position. In an effort to reduce this amount, the Department was able 
to delay further Capital appropriation receipts until the following 
financial period. The delay in receiving requests for payment 
combined with a delay to site works in building of the New State 
Theatre Centre was a major contributor to this initial large cash 
holding. 
 
Significant variances between actual results for 2009 and 2010 
 
 2010 2009 Variance  
 $'000 $'000 $'000  
  

Capital Contribution 1,541 36,227 (34,686) 
(a) 

 
(a)  The decrease in Capital Contribution is directly due to funding for 
the construction of the State Theatre Centre. As the project nears 
completion the funding amount received by the Department is coming 
to an end. This reduction in funding, is in combination with the large 
cash holding that the Department has successfully reduced which has 
enabled the Department to delay further final project funding until the 
next financial year. 
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Note 33. Financial instruments 
 
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
Financial Instruments held by the Department are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, finance 
lease. Treasurer's advances, loans and receivables, and payables. 
The Department has limited exposure to financial risks.  The 
Department's overall risk management program focuses on managing 
the risks identified below. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department's 
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Department. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period 
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross 
carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for 
impairment, as shown in the table at Note 33(c) 'Financial Instruments 
Disclosures' and Note 17 'Receivables'. 
 
Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is 
minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account). For receivables other than government, 

the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.  
The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products 
and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.  
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 
with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. 
At the end of the reporting period there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. 
 
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on 
objective experience such as observable data in client credit ratings. 
For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to Note 
17 Receivables. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due.  
 
The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business. 
 
The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows 
including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash 
flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments. 
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Market Risk 
 
The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash 
and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and 
it has no borrowings. 
 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 
 
In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each 
of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows 
 

2010  2009 
 $'000  $'000 
Financial Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 20,002  63,686 

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents 935  852 

Loans and receivables(a) 5,697  1,222 
   

    
Financial Liabilities    
Financial Liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 26,037  29,803 

 
(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from  
the ATO (statutory receivable) 

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures 
 
Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures 
 
The following tables disclose the Department's maximum exposure to 
credit risk, interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial 
assets.  
 
The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance 
sheet date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown 
below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past 
due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based 
on information provided to senior management of the Department. 
 
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit 
enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 
 
The Department does not hold any financial assets that had to have 
their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them 
being past due or impaired. 
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Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures 
 

Interest Rate Exposure Past Due but not impaired  
Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 
Rate 

Variable 
Interest 
Rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Up to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-2 
years

2-5 years More 
than 5 
years 

Impaired 
financial 
assets 

 

%  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Financial Assets   
2010   
Cash and cash equivalents - 20,002 - - 20,002 - - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 

- 935 - - 935 - - - - - - 

Receivables (a) - 4,789 - - 4,789 866 13 14 - - - 
Amounts receivable for services - 3,317 - - 3,317 - - - - - - 
 29,043 - - 29,043 866 13 14 - - - 
2009   
Cash and cash equivalents - 63,686 -  63,686 - - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 

- 852 -  852 - - - - - - 

Receivables (a) - 528 -  528 431 2 24 - - - 
Amounts receivable for services - 3,683 -  3,683 - - - - - - 
 68,749  - 68,749 431 2 24 - - - 
 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Liquidity Risk 

 
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the 
undiscounted amounts at the end of reporting period. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been made 
where material. 
 
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
 

 Interest Rate Exposure Maturity dates 
 Weighted 

average 
effective 

interest rate 
% 

Carrying 
amount 

$000

Variable 
interest 

rate 
$000

Non-interest 
bearing 

$000

Adjustment 
for 

discounting 
$000 

Total 
nominal 
amount

$000

 Up to 3 
months 

$000

3-12 
months 

$000
1-2 years 

$000

2-5 
years 
$000 

More than 5 
years 
$000 

Financial Liabilities                          
            
2010            

Accounts payable - 2,022
 

-  2,022                 -               -             -             -            -            -                -  

Grants payable - 24,015
 

-  24,015                 -               -             -             -            -  
          -  

              -  

  26,037
  

-   26,037                 -               -             -             -            -  
          -  

              -  
        
2009        

Accounts payable               -  2,185
 

-  2,185                 -               -             -             -            -            -                -  

Grants payable               -  27,618
 

-  27,618                 -               -             -             -            -  
          -  

              -  

 29,803
  

-   29,803                 -               -             -             -            -  
          -  

              -  
 
The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities. 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the 
period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 
 

 -100 basis points +100 basis points 

Carrying 
Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

2010 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial assets      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 935 (9) (9) 9 9 
      
Financial Liabilities      
Accounts payable 2,022 (20) (20) 20 20 

      

  (29) (29) 29 29 

    
 -100 basis points +100 basis points 

Carrying 
Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

2010 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial assets      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 852 (8) (8) 8 8 
      
Financial Liabilities      
Accounts payable 2,185 (22) (22) 22 22 

      

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (30) (30) 30 30 
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Fair Values 
 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of 
financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of 
fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
 
Note 34. Remuneration of senior officers 
 
The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year fall within the following bands are: 
 
   $  2010 2009
130,001 - 140,000  - 1
140,001 - 150,000  1 1
150,001 - 160,000  1 1
160,001 - 170,001  1 -
210,001 - 220,000  1 -
220,001 - 230,000  - 1
Total remuneration of senior officers   686  665

 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred 
by the Department in respect of senior officers.  No senior officers are 
members of the Pension Scheme. 
 

Note 35. Remuneration of auditor 
 
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit 
for the current financial year is as follows: 
 
   $  2010  2009 
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators 63   61 

The expense is included in note 10 'Other Expenses' 
 
Note 36. Related bodies 
 
The Department has no related bodies. 
 
Note 37. Affiliated bodies 
 
The Department provides grants to non-government affiliated bodies 
for administrative support.  In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 
951, the details of financial assistance provided to the non-
government affiliated bodies are shown in the table below.  A full list 
showing details of all grants provided to non-government bodies has 
been included in the grants lists attached to and forming part of the 
annual report. 
 
 2010 2009 
Affiliated Body $  $  
Australian Dance Council - 190 
Barking Gecko Theatre 400 - 
International Art Space Kellerberrin - 92 
PICA - 652 
WA Playwrights Consortium 72 - 
WA Youth Theatre Company 75 72 
 547 1,006 
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Note 38. Special purpose accounts 
 
Special Purpose Account - section 16(1)(b) of FMA 
 
Arts Lotteries Trust Account 
 
This Trust Account was established to account for funds received from 
the Lotteries Commission pursuant to sections 22(2)(d) of the 
Lotteries Commission Act 1990.  Payments are made in such 
proportion and among such bodies engaged in the conduct of cultural 
activities, and persons engaged in cultural activities in the State, as 
the Minister for the Arts thinks fit. 

2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
Balance at the start of the year - -
Receipts 13,500 12,500
Payments (13,500) (12,500)
Balance at the end of the year 0  0 

 
Note 39. Supplementary financial information 
 
(a) Write-offs 
 
During the financial year $0 (2009: $0) in bad debts was written off 
under the authority of: 
 

2010 2009
 $'000 $'000
The accountable officer - -
The Minister - -
 0  0 

There was no asset, public or other property written off during the 
financial year. 
 
(b) Loss through theft, defaults and other causes 
 
There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes. 
 
(c) Gifts of public property 
 
There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department. 
 
Note 40. Service Delivery Arrangement - Commonwealth Grant 
 
The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth 
Government have entered into a Service Delivery Arrangement for the 
provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and 
Cocos [Keeling] Islands).  The Commonwealth Government 
reimburses the Department any costs incurred in association with 
these services, as detailed below: 
 
Balance at the start of the year 154  315 
Receipts 66  244 
Payments (137)  (405) 
Balance at the end of the year 83   154 

 


